ATTENTION DEFICIT HYPERACTIVITY DISORDER SYMPTOMS AND NONSUICIDAL SELF-INJURY AMONG CLINICALLY-REFERRED CHILDREN AND YOUTH

by

Lindsey Dawn Gerrard

A thesis submitted in conformity with the requirements for the degree of Master of Arts Department of Applied Psychology and Human Development Ontario Institute for Studies in Education University of Toronto

© Copyright by Lindsey Gerrard (2018)

ATTENTION DEFICIT HYPERACTIVITY DISORDER SYMPTOMS AND NONSUICIDAL SELF-INJURY AMONG CLINICALLY-REFERRED CHILDREN AND YOUTH Master of Arts 2018 Lindsey Dawn Gerrard Department of Applied Psychology and Human Development University of Toronto

Abstract

Nonsuicidal self-injury (NSSI; direct and deliberate damage of bodily tissue) is a widespread concern among clinically-referred youth. Individuals with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) may be at increased risk for NSSI engagement; however, ADHD consists of heterogeneous symptomatology, and there may be differential risk based on varying symptomatology. The current study investigated differential risk for NSSI engagement associated with selected hyperactive/impulsive symptoms and inattentive symptoms in a sample of 1006, 8-18-year-old children/youth from Ontario, Canada. The Children and Youth Mental Health Assessment (ChYMH) was used to collect all measures at intake into clinical care. Three binary logistic regression analyses were conducted to assess the predictive ability of selected hyperactivity/impulsivity symptoms, selected inattentive symptoms and a combination in predicting NSSI. Only the hyperactivity/impulsivity symptoms were significantly predictive of NSSI engagement over and above age, sex, anxiety symptoms and social disengagement. The results are discussed in the context of implications for prevention/intervention.

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank several people, without whom, the completion of this project would not have been possible. Firstly, I would like to sincerely thank my thesis supervisor, Dr. Chloe Hamza, for all of her expertise, guidance and patience throughout the course of this project. I am very grateful to have had the opportunity to work with her on this project. Secondly I would also like to thank my MA committee members and MA thesis readers, Dr. Anne-Claude Bedard and Dr. Shannon Stewart for their thoughtful comments and contributions. I greatly appreciate their time and expertise, in helping to make this project the best it could be. Finally, I would also like to thank my family and my partner for their support, patience, and encouragement throughout the duration of this project.

Table of Contents

Acknowledgements	iii
Table of Contents	iv
List of Tables	vi
Overview	1
Nonsuicidal Self-Injury Definition	
Prevalence of NSSI Community Samples Clinical Samples Gender International Prevalence.	
NSSI and long-term outcomes	9
Risk factors for NSSI	11
Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD)	
Prevalence of ADHD Community Samples. Clinical Samples. ADHD Presentations. Gender.	13 14 15
ADHD and long term outcomes	
Self-injury and ADHD ADHD and Suicidal Behaviour. ADHD and NSSI.	20
Current Study	
Method	
Participants	
Measures – ChYMH Distractibility/hyperactivity scale Severity of self-harm scale. Social disengagement scale. Anxiety scale.	
Procedure	
Results Preliminary analyses	

Binary Logistic Regression	31
Hyperactivity/impulsivity symptoms Inattentive symptoms.	32
Discussion	34
Summary of Results	34
Differential Risk for NSSI	34
Impact of comorbidity on the relationship between ADHD and NSSI	38
Limitations and Future Directions	40
Conclusion	43
References	45

List of Tables

1.	Binary Logistic Regression Examining Selected ADHD Symptoms as a Predictor of
	NSSI
2.	Binary Logistic Regression Examining Selected Hyperactivity/Impulsivity Symptoms as a
	Predictor of NSSI
3.	Binary Logistic Regression Examining Selected Inattention Symptoms as a Predictor of
	NSSI

Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder Symptoms and Nonsuicidal Self-Injury among Clinically-referred Children and Youth

Overview

Nonsuicidal self-injury (NSSI) is an area of growing interest because of its high prevalence rates and significant impact on children, youth, and their families. In the literature, there has been increased interest in identifying factors that might lead to increased risk of NSSI engagement (e.g. Arbuthnott & Lewis, 2015; Ford & Gomez, 2015), to inform efforts to prevent NSSI behaviour among children and youth. There is emerging evidence that individuals with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) may be at an increased risk for NSSI (e.g. Hurtig, Taanila, Moilanen, Nordstrom, & Ebeling, 2012; Swanson, Owens, & Hinshaw, 2014). However, research in this area is limited, especially considering the heterogeneity of youth presenting with ADHD. The Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fifth Edition (DSM-5), highlights that there are 3 primary presentations of ADHD: predominantly hyperactive/impulsive presentation, predominantly inattentive presentation, and combined presentation (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). These presentations are composed of differing predominance of the two major symptom clusters; hyperactive/impulsive symptoms and inattentive symptoms. Since ADHD is composed of two main symptom clusters, it is important not only to investigate ADHD in general as a risk factor for NSSI but also to investigate whether there is differential risk associated with selective symptoms from the two clusters of symptomology for NSSI engagement. There has been very little research that has investigated the possibility of differential risk. The present study seeks to address this gap in the literature by examining whether different levels of selected ADHD symptomatology are predictive of NSSI engagement in a large sample of children and youth. Based on the existing

1

literature highlighting impulsivity as a strong predictor of NSSI engagement (see Hamza, Willoughby & Heffer, 2015 for a review), hyperactive/impulsive symptoms may be more predictive of NSSI risk than inattentive symptoms. Risk associated with inattentive symptoms is less clear. Higher levels of inattention may serve as a protective factor, as there is evidence to suggest that distraction and a lack of task persistence, which are both symptoms of inattention, may protect against NSSI engagement (Nock, Prinstein & Sterba, 2009; Polanco-Roman, Jurska, Quinones, & Miranda, 2015). Still, other research suggests that individuals classified as meeting criteria for the predominantly inattentive presentation may not differ from other presentations in terms of frequency of engagement in NSSI (Swanson et al., 2014). Therefore, the present study will investigate and attempt to clarify differential risk for NSSI based on differing levels of ADHD symptomatology.

Nonsuicidal Self-Injury

Definition. NSSI is defined in the DSM-5 as the direct and deliberate destruction of bodily tissue, without suicidal intent (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). NSSI behaviors include self-cutting, self-burning, self-scratching, head banging, or interfering with wound healing (Nock & Favazza, 2009). It is important to note that NSSI would not include behaviors which are socially sanctioned (e.g., tattooing, piercing), or stereotypical behaviors that would be seen among youth with complex developmental delays (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). In the past, NSSI and suicidal behaviours were often studied together under the umbrella term of deliberate self-harm (DSH). Although related, NSSI and suicidal behavior represent distinct behaviours, which vary on the basis of an individual's intent (Nock & Favazza, 2009). Suicidal behaviour can consist of both suicidal ideation, which is thinking about engaging in behaviours to end one's own life, and suicidal attempts, meaning engaging in behaviours with

the intent to end one's own life (Muehlenkamp, 2014). In addition to serving different functions, NSSI and suicidal behaviour also vary with respect to types of behaviour, and their frequency (Hamza, Stewart & Willoughby, 2012; Klonsky, May, & Glenn, 2013).

Research shows that the primary function of engaging in NSSI is to help lessen and regulate negative affect (Hamza & Willoughby, 2015; Klonsky, 2007; Klonsky, 2009). NSSI usually follows heightened negative emotions, and after engaging in NSSI, there is often a reduction in negative affect (Armey, Crowther, & Millar, 2011; Chapman & Dixon-Gordon, 2007; Hamza & Willoughby, 2015; Klonsky, 2009). Evidence to support this function of regulation comes from a recent review by Hamza and Willoughby (2015), who summarized evidence from studies looking at NSSI episodes in real-time via ecological moment sampling techniques (EMA). When NSSI episodes are examined in real time, studies show increasing negative emotions frequently associated with guilt, self-anger, or self-hatred and rejection, prior to engaging in NSSI, and after the episode there is evidence of a decrease in these negative emotions (Armey et al., 2011; Nock et al., 2009). Similarly, suicidal behaviour is associated with elevated negative affective and a desire to relieve these intense negative feelings. In contrast, suicidal behaviours do not serve to regulate these intense emotions, but to escape them altogether (Chapman & Dixon-Gordon, 2007; Hamza et al., 2012; May & Klonsky, 2013; Paul, Tsypes, Eidlitz, Ernhout, & Whitlock, 2015). Unlike NSSI, which serves to regulate negative affect, suicidal behaviour is usually associated with a strong desire to escape, or a feeling that they would rather die in order to alleviate a burden on others, thereby seeking to alleviate negative emotions by ending these negative affective states (Brown, Comtois, & Linehan, 2002; Muehlenkamp, 2014). It is this key distinction in desire and intent that differentiates functions of NSSI and suicidal behaviour, even though they share a common motivation to relieve strong

negative emotions (Klonsky et al., 2013; O'Connor, Comtois, Atkins, & Kerbrat, 2017; Paul et al., 2015).

NSSI and suicidal behaviours also differ in terms of the types of behaviours used and the frequency of these behaviours (Hamza et al., 2012; Klonsky et al., 2013). Suicide attempts use methods with the intention that they will result in death, for example, hanging, use of a firearm, or ingesting a poisonous substance. In contrast, NSSI methods tend to be less lethal, with about 70% of individuals using cutting (Briere & Gil, 1998; Klonsky & Muehlenkamp, 2007). In addition, it is very common for those engaging in NSSI to use multiple methods to harm themselves (Klonsky & Muehlenkamp, 2007; Klonsky, 2009), whereas most individuals engaging in suicidal behaviours use the same method, even if they attempt suicide multiple times (Bergen et al., 2012; Muehlenkamp, 2014). Interestingly, individuals that engage in NSSI and then later attempt suicide still tend to use different methods between the NSSI engagement and suicide attempts, suggesting that these are two unique behaviours (Bergen et al., 2012). A final difference is that NSSI is an action that is often performed multiple times and quite frequently (Heath, Toste, Nedecheva, & Charlebois, 2008; Klonsky, May, & Glenn, 2013; Lilley et al., 2008), whereas individuals are less likely to engage in multiple suicide attempts (Lilley et al., 2008; Muehlenkamp, 2014). These findings underscore why NSSI and suicidal behavior should each be studied in their own right.

Prevalence of NSSI

Community Samples. NSSI varies greatly in prevalence between community and clinical samples and also varies greatly across studies. Starting in early adolescence, the prevalence in community samples of NSSI is around 7.5-8%, and seems to increase through adolescence, peaking in later adolescence (Barrocas, Hankin, Young, & Abela, 2012; Hilt, Nock,

Lloyd-Richardson, & Prinstein, 2008). Prevalence rates range from 7-24% in adolescent samples (Barrocas et al., 2012; Jacobson & Gould, 2007; Muehlenkamp & Gutierrez, 2004; Swannell, Martin, Page, Hasking, & St. John, 2014) and then seem to decrease with age, leading to a prevalence of about 13.4 % in young adults and about 5.5% among adults (Swannell et al., 2014).

Clinical Samples. Prevalence rates of NSSI in clinical samples are much higher than in community samples. Prevalence rates range from 40-60% in varying clinical samples of adolescents including adolescents presenting for emergency care, referred for other psychiatric difficulties, or in outpatient services for adolescents with depression and suicidality. The prevalence rate among clinical samples of youth is approximately 2-3 times as prevalent as in community adolescent samples (Cloutier, Martin, Kennedy, Nixon, & Muehlenkamp, 2010; DiClemente, Ponton, & Hartley, 1991; Jacobson, Muehlenkamp, Miller & Turner, 2008). Among varying adult clinical samples, including adults in inpatient and outpatient care, there is also a significantly higher prevalence than in adult community samples, with approximately 20% of adults engaging in at least occasional NSSI (Briere & Gil, 1998; Klonsky, Oltmanns, & Turkheimer, 2003). Although prevalence rates vary widely between community and clinical samples it is important to note that the age of onset for NSSI does not typically vary across sample type. NSSI typically has its onset in adolescence, most often between the ages of 12-16 years (Heath et al., 2008; Muehlenkamp, Williams, Gutierrez, & Claes, 2009; Nock, 2010).

Variation in estimate of prevalence may stem from differences in assessments of NSSI (Heath et al., 2008; Swannell et al., 2014). The main differences in prevalence occur depending on whether checklists or a single item "yes/no" question format to assess NSSI is used. A checklist format would consist of a list of possible forms of NSSI, and require participants to

check all that apply (e.g., self-cutting, burning, scratching, etc.). The checklist format is associated with obtaining higher prevalence rates compared to single item assessments (Muehlenkamp, Claes, Havertape, & Plener, 2012). This may be because checklists may serve as a prompt to help individuals to recall incidents that they may otherwise not have considered to be NSSI (Heath et al., 2008; Swannell et al., 2014). There also appear to be differences in prevalence between interview formats and when questions are answered independently. Higher prevalence rates are found when information is filled out independently (i.e., participant completes a self-report assessment) compared to interview formats (Heath et al., 2008; Swannell et al., 2014). Therefore, dependent on methodologies used there can be wide variability in prevalence rates reported.

Gender. Research on gender differences in NSSI engagement have been highly mixed, with significant disagreement as to whether or not females are more likely to engage in NSSI than males. In adolescent samples (both clinical and community), findings on gender differences in NSSI prevalence are mixed. Some studies report that females are at an increased risk for NSSI engagement (Madge et al., 2008; Muehlenkamp & Gutierrez, 2007; Sornberger, Heath, Toste, & McLouth, 2012; Stewart, Baiden, & Theall-Honey, 2014; Wilkinson, Kelvin, Roberts, Dubicka, & Goodyer, 2011), whereas other studies have found no differences between adolescent male and female prevalence of NSSI engagement (Lloyd-Richardson, Perrine, Dierker, & Kelley, 2007; Nock, Joiner, Gordon, Lloyd-Richardson, & Prinstein, 2006). Similarly, within adult samples, findings have been equally conflicting. Some research suggests that there may not be differences in prevalence between men and women (Andover, Primack, Gibb & Pepper, 2010; Briere & Gil, 1998; Heath et al., 2008; Klonsky et al., 2003; Klonsky & Muehlenkamp, 2007; Whitlock, Eckenrode, & Silverman, 2006), whereas other studies suggest that women are at an

increased risk for NSSI engagement in adulthood as well (Bresin & Schoenleber, 2015; Claes, Vandereycken, & Vertommen, 2007). One possibility that may explain the seemly increased prevalence rates among females in adolescence may be due to an earlier age of onset for females. Onset of NSSI seems to occur in early adolescence for both genders, but females may engage in NSSI slightly earlier (Andover et al., 2010; Nixon, Cloutier, & Aggarwal, 2002). Nixon and colleagues, for example, reported that female onset was around 12 years old, whereas male onset was around 15 years old. This may be a possible explanation as to why, in some studies, female NSSI engagement appears to be more prevalent in adolescence.

A recent meta-analysis by Bresin and Schoenleber (2015) examined whether there were differences in NSSI prevalence across genders depending on the age of the sample as well as the type of sample. They found that overall, across study types, there was a small but significant effect showing that females are approximately 1.5 times more likely to engage in NSSI than males, indicating that females are slightly more likely than males to engage in NSSI. They did not find significant differences based on age in terms of differences in gender prevalence. However, they did find that there were significant differences based on sample type. Specifically, they found that clinical samples tend to have larger gender differences (where females have higher prevalence rates) than community and college samples. Bresin and Schoenleber (2015), hypothesize that this may be because males are less likely to seek help with NSSI than females.

Males and females also seem to differ in the types of NSSI that they engage in. Females seem to be more likely to use cutting, biting, scratching, hair pulling, and interference with wound healing, with some of the most common methods being cutting and scratching (Andover et al., 2010; Bresin & Schoenleber, 2015; Claes et al., 2007; Sornberger et al., 2012). Males appear to be more likely to engage in burning and self-hitting (Andover et al., 2010; Sornberger

et al., 2012). There is also preliminary evidence that males and females may engage in NSSI for different functions. Both males and females report engaging in NSSI for regulating negative affect, though, females may be more likely to engage in NSSI as a form of self-punishment, whereas males may be more likely to engage in NSSI as a means of communication (e.g. showing they are strong enough, or seeking support) (Claes et al., 2007; Rodham, Hawton, & Evans, 2004).

International Prevalence. It is difficult to draw conclusions about prevalence differences across countries because of the methodological differences between studies. Not only do prevalence rates differ based on checklist compared to single item measures (Muehlenkamp et al., 2012; Swannell et al., 2014), but there are also important differences in definition of selfinjury that make it very difficult to directly compare prevalence rates across studies (Muehlenkamp et al., 2012). In European countries, the term Deliberate Self Harm (DSH) is frequently used; however, this can include self-harming acts that do not result in death either with or without suicidal intent, whereas NSSI tends to be used in North American research (Muehlenkamp et al., 2012). Therefore, it is important to use studies across countries that not only use similar methods, but also that use the same definition of self-injury. Preliminary findings suggest that NSSI prevalence may be similar across countries (Giletta, Scholte, Engels, Ciairano, & Prinstein, 2012; Plener, Libal, Keller, Fegert, & Muehlenkamp, 2009). One study by Plener, and colleagues (2009), compared two adolescent community samples, one United States (US) adolescent community sample and another German adolescent community sample. These samples were compared because they had comparable methodology and were both examining NSSI. Under these conditions where all study factors were comparable, there were no significant differences found in prevalence. They found that a prevalence rate of 25.6% of German

adolescents from a community sample engaged in NSSI, which is comparable to other studies that have been conducted in North American community samples examining NSSI prevalence (e.g. Jacobson & Gould, 2007; Muehlenkamp & Gutierrez, 2004, Muehlenkamp & Gutierrez, 2007). Similarly, another study comparing NSSI rates across three countries: Italy, the Netherlands, and the US, using similar methodology with community samples of adolescents, found no significant differences in prevalence of NSSI. This study reported that approximately 24% of adolescents engaged in NSSI at least once within the last year on average across these countries. These studies provide preliminary evidence that NSSI may be equally problematic across countries.

Research examining DSH across countries has shown prevalence rates to be much less consistent, showing varying prevalence rates across countries (e.g. Madge et al., 2008; Portzky, De Wilde, & van Heeringen, 2008). One study comparing Belgian and Dutch adolescents found significant differences in prevalence of DSH rates between those two countries. They reported that Belgian adolescents were 2.8 times more likely to self-injure than Dutch adolescents (Portzky et al., 2008). Therefore, although further research is required, the consistency in cross country prevalence found for NSSI, in contrast with the inconsistent rates found for DSH, provides further evidence that these concepts are distinct, and that perhaps cross country prevalence rate differences are due to self-harming behaviours with suicidal intent (Giletta et al., 2012).

NSSI and long-term outcomes

NSSI is associated with a wide variety of psychological difficulties, such as anxiety disorders, depressive disorders, and personality disorders (e.g. Hankin & Abela, 2011; Hoff & Muehlenkamp, 2009; Klonsky et al., 2003; Muehlenkamp & Gutierrez, 2007). One of the

behaviours of greatest concern associated with NSSI is elevated risk of suicidal behaviour (Klonsky et al., 2013). Recent research has shown that individuals who engage in NSSI are at a significantly greater risk of attempting suicide than those who do not engage in NSSI (Wilkinson et al., 2011). In a longitudinal study of adolescents receiving treatment for Major Depressive Disorder (MDD), results showed that adolescents who engaged in NSSI were 10 times more likely to attempt suicide than those without a history of NSSI (Wilkinson et al., 2011). Similar findings were found in another longitudinal study with 12-18-year old adolescents being treated for MDD. They found that NSSI was a significant predictor of suicide attempts over the course of treatment (Asarnow et al., 2011).

Recent theory supports the contention that NSSI may be an important risk factor for suicidal behavior (Van Orden et al., 2010). According to Joiner's (2005) Interpersonal Theory of Suicide, in order to attempt suicide, an individual must: 1) have the desire to die, which is often associated with a lack of social connectedness, a sense that one is a burden, and general self-hatred, and 2) must have the capability, meaning that they must lose the fear of engaging in life threatening behaviours, and have a high tolerance for physical pain (Van Orden et al., 2010). Klonsky and colleagues (2013), proposed that engaging in NSSI may increase suicide risk through both increased desire and capability. Self-injury is often associated with high levels of negative emotion, and can be associated with self-hatred and self-punishment (Klonsky & Muehlenkamp, 2007; Klonsky et al., 2013); these negative feelings and thoughts towards the self may increase the desire to die. Additionally, repeated self-inflicted harm, may lead to increased pain tolerance and lower fearlessness about death over time (Klonsky et al., 2013; Nock et al., 2006). In support of this theoretical explanation, research shows that NSSI is in one of the strongest predictors of suicide attempts, second only to suicidal ideation (Klonsky et al., 2013).

Notably, in one study the relationship between NSSI and attempted suicide was stronger than that of anxiety, depression, impulsivity, and borderline personality disorder with suicide attempts (Klonsky et al., 2013).

Risk factors for NSSI

There has been increasing interest surrounding what factors might increase risk for NSSI, to inform efforts to prevent this behaviour early (e.g. Adrian, Zeman, Erdley, Lisa, & Sim, 2011; Arbuthnott & Lewis, 2015; Armiento, Hamza, Stewart, & Leschied, 2016; Ford & Gomez, 2015; Martin et al., 2016). Research suggests that both intrapersonal risk factors (e.g. difficulties in emotion regulation, impulsivity) as well as interpersonal risk factors (e.g., deficits in social communication) may undermine an individual's ability to cope with distress, and increase risk for NSSI (e.g. Adrian et al., 2011; Glenn & Klonsky, 2010; Heath et al., 2008; Nock & Mendes, 2008; Nock, 2009). Despite interest in researching risk factors for NSSI engagement, one risk factor that has received little empirical attention thus far is ADHD. ADHD could be an important risk factor for NSSI engagement since it is characterized by deficits in executive functioning leading to difficulties with inhibition and emotion regulation (Barkley, 1997; Steinberg & Drabick, 2015). It is also common for individuals with ADHD to struggle with effective communication and effective social interaction (Barkley, 2006). These deficits associated with ADHD align with the vulnerabilities commonly associated with NSSI risk (Nock, 2009), suggesting that ADHD may be a potential risk factor for NSSI.

Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD)

ADHD is a heterogeneous neurodevelopmental disorder, meaning that there are multiple possible presentations of this disorder (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). It is characterized by inattentive symptoms, meaning difficulty controlling attention (e.g. failing to

pay attention to details, having trouble holding attention for long periods of time, difficulties with planning and organizing, and distractibility), and/or hyperactive/impulsive symptoms, meaning acting rashly without consideration of long-term outcomes (e.g. difficulties sitting still, or waiting their turn), or a combined presentation of both inattentive and hyperactive/impulsive symptoms (American Psychiatric Association, 2013; Roberts, Milich, & Barkley, 2014).

Currently, the DSM-5 (American Psychiatric Association, 2013) specifies that ADHD can be diagnosed if an individual displays a consistent pattern of inattention and/or hyperactivity/impulsivity that is impairing to their day-to-day functioning. In terms of inattention, an individual must display a minimum of six out of the nine possible inattentive symptoms over a period of at least six months in a way that is impairing. Inattentive symptoms can include: difficulties paying attention to details, difficulties with sustained attention, difficulties listening when spoken to, difficulties following instructions or finishing required tasks, disorganization, avoidance of tasks requiring sustained effort, losing important items, distractibility, and forgetfulness. Similarly, an individual must display a minimum of six symptoms of hyperactivity/impulsivity out of a possible nine symptoms, that have been present at least 6 months in a way that is interfering with their day to day functioning, to meet the criteria for hyperactivity/impulsivity. These symptoms can include: frequent fidgeting, frequently leaving seat their when it is not appropriate, running or climbing when it is not appropriate, not being able to play quietly, difficulty staying still, excessive talking, blurting out answers, difficulty with waiting for their turn, and frequent interruptions or intrusions. Consideration of the onset of these symptoms, and also whether these symptoms occur across many settings is also required. Based on the profile of symptoms present, according to the DSM-5 it should be specified whether an individual meets criteria for a combined presentation, where inattentive and

hyperactive/impulsive symptom criteria are both met, predominantly inattentive presentation, where only inattentive symptom criteria is met over the past 6 months, or a predominantly hyperactive/impulsive presentation, where only hyperactive/impulsive symptom criteria has been met for the past 6 months (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). It is important to note that the specification of presentation was introduced in the DSM-5 and prior to its introduction, individuals were differentiated by subtypes: combined subtype, inattentive subtype, or hyperactive/impulsive subtype. The current shift in the DSM-5 language was to address the transient nature of the presentations of ADHD. By using the term presentation, it captures that this is just a specifier of their current symptom profile and it is not necessarily a permanent subtype categorization (Tannock, 2013; Willcutt, 2012).

Prevalence of ADHD

Community Samples. The prevalence of ADHD varies across age, with the highest prevalence of approximately 10.5-11.4% in preschool to elementary school aged children (Willcutt, 2012). Prevalence rates drop slightly in adolescence to approximately 8.0% of adolescents having ADHD in community samples (Willcutt, 2012). In adult samples the prevalence of ADHD is approximately 5.0% (Almeida Montes, Hernandez Garcia, & Ricardo-Garcell, 2007; Thomas, Sanders, Doust, Beller, & Glasziou, 2015), and some research suggests that the prevalence in older adults (over the age of 70 years) is approximately 3.0% (Michielsen et al., 2012). But, there is considerable variability in prevalence rates across studies. For example, a meta-analysis conducted by Skounti, Philalithis, and Galanakis (2007), found that reported prevalence rates for children and adolescents with ADHD in community samples ranged from 2.2-17.8%. According to a meta-analysis by Polanczyk, Silva de Lima, Horta, Biederman, and Rohde (2007), the worldwide pooled prevalence of ADHD was 5.29%. Similarly, the

American Psychiatric Association (2013) reports a prevalence of 5.0% in children and 2.5% in adults. Therefore, there is considerable variability in prevalence rates reported across studies.

Clinical Samples. Prevalence rates of ADHD are significantly higher in clinical samples than in community samples, but much like in community samples, there is a wide amount of variability in rates reported. Lewczyk, Garland, Hurlburt, Gearity, and Hough (2003), reported a 46.7% prevalence rate of ADHD in a clinical sample of youth (ages 6-18 years) who had received treatment from a mental health facility at least once during the year prior to the research assessment. Studies of specific clinical populations have also yielded significantly higher prevalence rates than are typically found in community samples. For example, in a review conducted by van Emmerik-van Oortmerssen and colleagues (2012), it was found that ADHD prevalence rates in samples of adolescents with Substance Use Disorders (SUD) ranged from 8% to 44.3%. Similarly, Speranza and colleagues (2011), reported that in a sample of adolescents meeting criteria for Borderline Personality Disorder (ages 15-19 years), 46% of individuals showed at least one ADHD symptom of clinical concern; yet only 11% met criteria for a current ADHD diagnosis. Adult ADHD prevalence in clinical samples seems to be about 3 times the prevalence of adult ADHD in community samples, with a prevalence of approximately 17.0% for adults in clinical samples, compared with a 5.0% prevalence in community samples of adults (Almeida Montes et al., 2007). Like with adolescent samples, these higher prevalence rates seem to occur across a wide range of psychiatric disorders, such as Bipolar Disorder and SUDs (e.g. Daigre et al., 2013; Tamam, Karakus, & Ozpoyraz, 2008; Tamburin et al., 2017; van Emmerikvan Oortmerssen et al., 2012). In a sample of adults (ages 18-65 years) diagnosed with Bipolar Disorder, 16.3% met criteria for ADHD as adults and 27% met criteria for ADHD at some point during their lifetime (Tamam et al., 2008). Studies of adults with SUDs have shown equally high

prevalence rates for ADHD with rates ranging from 10-55% depending on the study (Daigre et al., 2013; Tamburin et al., 2017; van Emmerik-van Oortmerssen et al., 2012).

ADHD Presentations. Overall ADHD diagnoses in general appear to be relatively stable over time. That said, specific symptoms appear to change, making presentations of ADHD much less stable (Lahey, Pelham, Loney, Lee, & Willcutt, 2005; Willcutt et al., 2012). Specifically, hyperactive/impulsive symptoms appear to decrease with age, whereas inattentive symptoms seem to remain relatively constant (Hinshaw, Owens, Sami, & Fargeon, 2006; Willcutt, 2012; Willcutt et al., 2012). Willcutt and colleagues (2012) in their meta-analytic review of the literature reported that research suggests that when individuals were reassessed 5-9 years after being diagnosed with ADHD in childhood, it was found that 59% of these youth still met criteria for ADHD; but only 35% remained within the same ADHD presentation. Thus, when examining prevalence rates across presentations of ADHD it is important to consider presentation prevalence at different ages, since symptoms seem to follow a developmental pattern. The predominantly hyperactive/impulsive presentation appears to be most prevalent in preschool children, but decreases slightly in elementary school children and decreases even more in adolescents (Willcutt, 2012). The combined presentation shows a slight increase between preschool and elementary children, but its prevalence declines in adolescence and adulthood (Willcutt, 2012). Finally, the predominantly inattentive presentation increases from preschool to elementary and then remains highly prevalent in adolescents (accounting for approximately 72%) of all adolescents with ADHD) and has the highest prevalence of all the presentations in adulthood (Willcutt, 2012). Therefore, it is difficult to gain an accurate assessment of prevalence rates across ADHD presentations, since symptoms appear to change with age, as

hyperactive/impulsive symptoms appear to decrease more than inattentive symptoms (Hinshaw et al., 2006; Willcutt, 2012; Willcutt et al., 2012).

As was mentioned, prevalence rates vary widely across studies examining the prevalence of ADHD. Research suggests that multiple factors may contribute to these varied prevalence rates. Firstly, the diagnostic criteria used within the study can have a significant impact on the prevalence rate that is obtained. Research shows that different prevalence rates emerge depending on the edition of the DSM used to specify the exact criteria for diagnoses. Specifically, higher prevalence rates were found when DSM-IV criteria were used compared with the DSM-III-R (Polanczyk et al., 2007; Polanczyk, Willcutt, Salum, Kieling, & Rohde, 2014; Thomas et al., 2015). Prevalence rates also differed depending on whether or not impairment was required for a diagnosis, and whether or not only some symptoms of ADHD or full diagnostic criteria were required. Requiring impairment for diagnosis is associated with lower prevalence rates (Polanczyk et al., 2007; Polanczyk et al., 2014), and when full DSM criteria were required for a diagnosis, lower prevalence rates were reported as well (Willcutt, 2012). Secondly, prevalence rates vary depending on the assessor type. Prevalence rates tend to be higher when based on teacher reports rather than parent reports (Polanczyk et al., 2014; Willcutt, 2012), but parental reports tend to yield higher prevalence than do clinician reports (Thomas et al., 2015). Overall it seems that teacher and parent ratings result in higher prevalence rates than other informants such as clinicians (Polanczyk et al., 2007). Thirdly, prevalence rates also seem to vary based on the geographic location in which the data were collected. Some research shows that prevalence rates in Africa and the Middle East differ from other parts of the world (Polanczyk et al., 2007; Thomas et al., 2015). Yet, in other meta-analyses with a wider breadth of studies conducted in Africa and the Middle East, no prevalence differences were

found based on geographic location (Polanczyk et al., 2014; Willcutt, 2012).

Gender. Gender differences in prevalence seem to vary based on age. Research suggests that in childhood, there is a higher prevalence of males with ADHD, specifically, males are approximately 4 times more likely to have ADHD than females in childhood and adolescence (Huang, Weng, & Ho, 2016). In adulthood, prevalence rates appear to be higher among females in both community and clinical samples (Huang et al., 2016). For example, in a study comparing a community and a clinical sample of adults, Almeida Montes and colleagues (2007) found that in a clinical sample, female prevalence was 21.6% compared with 8.5% for males, and in a community sample the prevalence was 7.1% for females and only 4.1% for males. These increases in female prevalence relative to male prevalence in adulthood may be a result of more help seeking among female adults (Huang et al., 2016). Another possible explanation may come from examining changes in presentation prevalence with age. Research suggests that females are more likely to demonstrate inattentive symptoms, whereas males are more likely to demonstrate hyperactive/impulsive symptoms (Biederman et al., 2002; Gaub & Carlson, 1997; Gershon, 2002). As discussed, during early childhood, the most prevalent presentation of ADHD is the hyperactive/impulsive presentation, but with age hyperactive/impulsive symptoms appear to decrease, whereas inattentive symptoms seem to remain relatively constant, making the inattentive presentation the most common presentation in adulthood (Willcutt. 2012; Willcutt et al., 2012). Therefore, the increased prevalence among males in childhood may be explained by the relatively higher rates of hyperactivity/impulsivity that are often observed in childhood. In addition, since females are less likely to display high levels of hyperactivity/impulsivity compared to males, it may be that males are more likely to be referred in childhood due to the disruptive nature of these symptoms in the classroom (Coles, Slavec, Bernstein, & Baroni, 2012; Gershon, 2002). In fact, research shows that female inattentive symptoms often go unnoticed in the classroom, meaning that girls are often not referred in childhood (Groenewald, Emond, & Sayal, 2009).

ADHD and long term outcomes

ADHD is associated with considerable risk in terms of mental health and long term outcomes (Balazs, Miklosi, Kereszteny, Dallos, & Gadoros, 2014; Wilens, Biederman & Spencer, 2002). For example, children and youth with ADHD are at an increased risk for both internalizing and externalizing problems (Hinshaw et al., 2012). In fact, studies show that comorbid mental health issues in individuals with ADHD are more common than not (Becker, Luebbe, & Langberg, 2012), and children and adolescents with ADHD are at a significantly higher risk for these comorbid disorders than children and adolescents without ADHD (Balazs et al., 2014). A study looking at adults with childhood diagnoses of ADHD found that they were significantly more likely (about 2.6 times more likely) to have a comorbid mental disorder in adulthood compared with those that did not have a diagnosis of ADHD in childhood (Barbaresi, Colligan, Weaver, Voigt, Killian, & Katusic, 2013). Approximately 44% of children with ADHD will have at least one comorbid mental disorder (Barkley, 2006). In terms of specific disorders, individuals with ADHD are at an increased risk of developing externalizing problems such as Oppositional Defiant Disorder (ODD) and also Conduct Disorder (CD). For example, research shows that having ADHD increases the likelihood of having ODD or CD by approximately 10 times (Barkley, 2006). ODD and CD are associated with negative outcomes such as antisocial behaviours, delinquency, and greater problems with substance use and abuse (Barkley, 2006; Becker et al., 2012).

ADHD is also associated with increased risk for internalizing problems such as anxiety and depression. A review by Angold, Costello and Erkanli (1999) of studies examining community samples of children for comorbidity rates found that the odds of ADHD and anxiety disorders being comorbid in children was approximately 3.0, meaning that having an ADHD diagnosis increases the risk of having an anxiety disorder by three times (Barkley, 2006). Similarly, in clinical samples of children with ADHD it was found that 27% had a comorbid anxiety disorder (Xia, Shen, & Zhang, 2015). In terms of depressive disorders, about 15-75% of those with ADHD struggle with some form of depression, and about 9-32% will have MDD (Barkley, 2006). Similarly, Wilens and colleagues (2002) found that in a sample of preschool and school aged children, about 50% of those with ADHD had an MDD diagnosis. Longitudinal research has found similar results. For example, Chronis-Tuscano and colleagues (2010) found that 4-6-year-old children with ADHD combined and predominantly inattentive presentations were at an increased risk of depression at the ages of 9-18 years of age, compared to children without ADHD in childhood, even after controlling for mothers' depression.

In addition to increased likelihood of mental health concerns, research shows that children with ADHD tend to have greater social difficulties (Hoza, 2007; Kok, Groen, Fuermaier, & Tucha, 2016; McQuade & Hoza, 2008). They tend to have fewer close friendships and tend to be rejected by other children more frequently (Becker et al., 2012). In fact, research suggests that approximately 50-80% of children with ADHD are rejected by their peers, and that once these children are rejected it is very difficult to change their peers' perceptions of them (Hoza, 2007). Research shows that other children without ADHD quickly notice that children with ADHD display behaviour that is not socially appropriate or annoying (e.g. intrusive behaviours and rule breaking) (Hoza, 2007; McQuade, Hoza, 2008). A lack of friends and socialization opportunities places children at risk for decreased self-esteem, victimization, and many negative outcomes long term, such as delinquency and negative psychological outcomes (Hoza, 2007; Kok et al., 2016).

Self-injury and ADHD

Despite increased research on risk factors for NSSI (e.g. Arbuthnott & Lewis, 2015; Ford & Gomez, 2015), one often overlooked risk factor for the development of NSSI is that of ADHD. Although research has examined the association between ADHD and suicidal behavior, self-injury specifically differentiated by non-lethal intent has not received as much research attention. There is mounting evidence that ADHD may be associated with increased suicidal risk (Balazs et al., 2014; Chronis-Tuscano et al., 2010; Impey & Heun, 2012), and preliminary research suggests ADHD also may be relevant in the understanding of NSSI (e.g. Hinshaw et al., 2012; Hurtig et al., 2012; Swanson et al., 2014). It is less clear, however, whether this risk may vary depending on the presentation of ADHD symptoms. An overview of the research on the link between ADHD and self-injury with and without lethal intent will now be reviewed, and the importance of the present study in furthering research on the link between ADHD

ADHD and Suicidal Behaviour. There is strong evidence to suggest that ADHD increases risk for suicidal behaviour, including both suicidal ideation (i.e., thinking about engaging in behaviours to end one's own life), and suicidal attempts (engaging in behaviours with the intent to end one's own life) (Nock & Favazza, 2009). In terms of suicidal ideation, studies show that individuals with ADHD, across all ages (childhood, adolescence, and adulthood), are at an increased risk for thinking about ending their own life (Balazs et al., 2014; Chronis-Tuscano et al., 2010; Impey & Heun, 2012). In one study, it was found that children and

adolescents with ADHD were at two times greater risk for suicidal ideation, as compared to children and adolescents without ADHD (Impey & Heun, 2012). A longitudinal study by Chronis-Tuscano and colleagues (2010) found that 4-6-year-old children with ADHD were not only at an increased risk for depression at the ages of 9-18 years of age, but were also at a greater risk for suicidal ideation. Their results suggested that children classified as having ADHD combined presentation at the ages of 4-6-years were at a greater risk than control children without ADHD for suicidal ideation; however, those classified as ADHD predominantly hyperactive/impulsive or inattentive were not at a greater risk compared to controls.

Individuals with ADHD are also at an increased risk for suicide attempts. To be specific, the likelihood of death by suicide is approximately 3 times the likelihood for individuals with ADHD compared to individuals without ADHD (James, Lai, & Dahl, 2004; Nigg, 2013). The rate of individuals that complete suicide with ADHD is higher than the general population prevalence of suicide of 5.29%. In fact, individuals whom have completed suicide are 1.7-3.6 times more likely to have an ADHD diagnosis than not have an ADHD diagnosis (Barbaresi et al., 2013; Impey & Heun, 2012). There is some debate in the literature, however, as to whether ADHD is directly associated with suicidal behaviours, or if this increased risk is a result of comorbid disorders that are associated with greater risk for suicidal behaviour (Balazs et al., 2014; James et al., 2004; Nigg, 2013). Balazs and colleagues (2014) investigated the relationship between ADHD and suicidality in a clinical sample of children and adolescents. They found that the relationship between ADHD symptoms and suicidality was fully explained by other comorbid mental disorders. In children, symptoms of anxiety disorders fully mediated the relationship, whereas in adolescents, depressive disorders as well as substance use and abuse mediated this relationship. Similarly, Cho and colleagues (2008) found that ADHD symptoms

were related to depressive symptoms, which in turn were related to suicidal ideation, suggesting that depressive symptoms mediated this relationship. In contrast, other studies have found ADHD to be linked with increased risk for suicidal behaviours outside of the impact of comorbid mental disorders (Galera, Bouvard, Encrenaz, & Fombonne, 2008; Stickley, Koyanagi, Ruchkin, & Kamio, 2016). Galera and collegues (2008) found an association between male hyperactivity and inattention levels in childhood and suicide planning and attempts in young adulthood that was independent of comorbid mental disorders and substance use. Similarly, in a sample of adult men and women, Stickley and colleagues (2016) found that ADHD was significantly associated with lifetime suicide outcomes, even after controlling for comorbid mental disorders. This risk was especially pronounced for those with the highest levels of ADHD symptomatology. Therefore, there seems to be a clear increased risk for suicidal behaviours associated with ADHD that may exist independently of the impact of comorbid disorders, although it is difficult to say definitively.

ADHD and NSSI. Although the link between ADHD and NSSI has received comparatively less attention than the link between ADHD and suicidal behavior, there is emerging evidence that ADHD may also be a risk factor for NSSI. More specifically, two longitudinal studies have found an association between ADHD and self-injury without suicidal intent over time (Hinshaw et al., 2012; Swanson et al., 2014). In one study, Hinshaw and colleagues (2012) found that children with a diagnosis of ADHD in childhood experienced both higher levels of suicide attempts and also NSSI in young adulthood, though this sample was limited to females only. Similarly, Swanson and colleagues (2014) found that a persistent ADHD diagnosis over time (having met the criteria for ADHD both in childhood and in adolescence), was associated with more frequent NSSI, employing more methods of NSSI, and with more severe methods used than individuals with a transient diagnosis of ADHD, or no ADHD diagnosis. Though, this study employed the same sample as Hinshaw and colleagues (2012), and therefore was limited to females as well.

Akin to the literature examining ADHD and suicide risk, there is question as to whether there is truly a relationship between ADHD and increased risk for NSSI or if this relationship is best accounted for by shared comorbid disorders. For example, Taylor, Boden, and Rucklidge (2014) found an association between higher levels of ADHD symptomatology and greater risk for self-harm (without suicidal intent); though, they found that this relationship was mediated by mental health problems, suggesting that the relationship between ADHD symptoms and selfharm was explained by the higher likelihood of comorbid mental health problems in those with greater ADHD symptomatology. Similarly, Swanson and colleagues (2014) also found a mediation effect, such that the relationship between ADHD in childhood and NSSI severity in young adulthood was partially mediated by externalizing symptoms. Hurtig and colleagues (2012) also found that comorbid disorders such as depression seemed to be associated with increased risk for DSH. Therefore, it is unclear whether ADHD accounts for increased risk in NSSI or whether comorbid mental disorders account for this increased risk.

Another limitation within this literature is that few studies examine differential risk associated with different presentations of symptomatology associated with ADHD (predominantly hyperactivity/impulsivity vs predominantly inattentive symptoms). In the few studies that do consider differential risk based on varying ADHD presentation, there appears to be increased risk associated with symptoms of hyperactivity/impulsivity (Hinshaw et al., 2012; Izutsu et al., 2006; Meza, Owens, & Hinshaw, 2016; Swanson et al., 2014). In terms of presentation differences, research showed significant differences between the combined presentation and the predominantly inattentive presentation in terms of risk for self-injury, such that greater risk was associated with the combined presentation (Hinshaw et al., 2012; Swanson et al., 2014). Specifically, Swanson and colleagues (2014) found that although having ADHD in general was related to more frequent NSSI engagement, having the combined presentation in childhood was associated with having more severe forms of NSSI and engaging in the greatest variety of forms of NSSI in young adulthood. Other research also seems to suggest that hyperactivity/impulsivity may be associated with increased risk. In a study with Japanese adolescents, Izutsu and colleagues (2006) found that adolescents that disclosed engaging in DSH reported significantly higher levels of hyperactivity/impulsivity in childhood. Adding to these findings, in a longitudinal study of females, Meza and colleagues (2016) found that response inhibition (a measure of impulsivity) in childhood significantly predicted NSSI severity in young adulthood, such that greater impulsivity was associated with greater severity of NSSI. Therefore, although there are few studies, the general trend in existing research shows that there seems to be a relationship between ADHD and increased risk for NSSI, and that this seems to be particularly prominent in individuals with elevated levels of hyperactivity/impulsivity in childhood.

Current Study

Although there is a growing body of literature highlighting the relationship between ADHD and NSSI, little research has examined whether different symptoms of ADHD may be differentially associated with NSSI engagement. ADHD is a heterogeneous disorder that is associated with diverse symptomatology, which is why it is limiting to assume that all individuals with ADHD may be at equivalent risk for NSSI engagement. Some studies seem to show a trend for increased risk with greater hyperactive/impulsive symptoms, however these studies are few in number and the majority were conducted with female participants (e.g. Hinshaw et al., 2012; Swanson et al., 2014). In addition, there is still question as to whether ADHD is a predictor of NSSI independently, or whether the relationship is a result of other comorbid mental disorders (i.e., unaccounted third variables). Therefore, the present study seeks to address these gaps in the literature by examining ADHD symptomatology and its ability to predict NSSI engagement in a sample of Canadian children and youth (ages 8-18 years old). The predictive ability of selected general ADHD symptomatology will be investigated, but also the predictive ability of selected hyperactivity/impulsivity symptomatology and selected inattentive symptomatology. In addition, the impact of comorbid psychological difficulties such as anxiety and social disengagement symptoms will be considered to see the unique contribution of these selected ADHD symptomatology to NSSI risk.

We hypothesize that the hyperactive/impulsive symptoms selected will be more strongly associated with NSSI engagement than the selected inattentive symptoms not only because of the existing literature that seems to suggest additional risk associated with hyperactivity/impulsivity, but also because there is a wealth of literature underscoring impulsivity as a risk factor for NSSI engagement (e.g. Glenn & Klonsky, 2010; Hamza et al., 2015). Research suggests that individuals who engage in NSSI have higher levels of impulsivity than those that do not engage in NSSI and that higher levels of impulsivity tend to be associated with more frequent NSSI engagement, as well as a wider range of methods used to self-harm (for a review, see Hamza et al., 2015). Individuals who engage in NSSI also seem to differ from those who do not engage in NSSI in urgency, meaning that they tend to act rashly when faced with negative emotions, and often struggle with premeditation and thinking through consequences (Glenn & Klonsky, 2010). These characteristics are also common among individuals who display hyperactive/impulsive

symptoms associated with ADHD (Roberts et al., 2014). Therefore, we believe that the selected symptoms of hyperactivity/impulsivity will be predictive of NSSI engagement.

In contrast it is not clear whether the inattentive symptoms selected will be predictive of NSSI engagement. There is some evidence to suggest that two symptoms of inattention; distraction and low task persistence, may be protective against NSSI engagement (Polanco-Roman et al., 2015). For example, Nock and colleagues (2009) found that one way of decreasing NSSI behaviour was to distract oneself with other thoughts or activities. Therefore, individuals who have difficulty focussing their attention and who tend to be more distractible, as is a characteristic of ADHD inattentive symptoms, these individuals may actually be more protected from NSSI engagement. In addition, difficulty persisting in a painful or unpleasant task has been found to be protective against more severe forms of self-harm, and therefore those who tend to be distractible and who tend to have difficulty persisting in unpleasant tasks may be protected against more severe forms of NSSI (Anestis, Bagge, Tull, & Joiner, 2011). Conversely, despite distraction being a potentially positive coping strategy to avoid NSSI engagement, individuals with ADHD tend to lack attentional control, and therefore may not be able to engage in effortful distraction such as choosing to think of something else, especially in the context of negative emotions (Jonkman, Markus, Franklin, & van Dalfsen, 2017; O'Bryan, Kraemer, Johnson, McLeish, McLaughlin, 2017). Additionally, individuals with higher levels of selected inattentive symptoms may be at greater risk for depression and rumination, since individuals with a predominantly inattentive presentation tend to be at a greater risk than individuals with a predominantly hyperactive/impulsive presentation. This is important to consider as depression and rumination are risk factors for NSSI engagement (Chronis-Tuscano et al., 2010; Jonkman et al., 2017). Therefore, it is unclear whether or not selected inattentive symptoms will be

predictive of risk for NSSI engagement or whether higher levels of the inattentive symptoms selected may even be protective. The current study will seek to address these questions.

Method

Participants

In the present study, 1006 children and youth (34% female), ages 8-18 years-old (Mage = 12.06, SD = 2.80) as well as their caregivers, completed the Child and Youth Mental Health Assessment (ChYMH) at time of intake into clinical care (i.e., a participating mental health agency). Data were collected from 15 mental health facilities across Ontario offering both inpatient and outpatient services as a standard of care. At intake, 42% of children/youth's parents were married, 4% were living with a significant other, 19% were never married, 2% were widowed, 13% were separated, 15% were divorced, and the remaining parent's status' were unknown (5%). Among those children participating, reasons for referral consisted of threat to self (33%) or others (44%), addiction or dependency (4%), specific psychiatric symptoms (68%) or involvement with the justice system (6%).

Measures – ChYMH

The interRAI Child and Youth Mental Health (ChYMH) Instrument (Stewart et al., 2015) was used to collect all data for the current study. The ChYMH is a manualized semi-structured assessment tool, specifically designed to obtain a complete profile of the assessed child/youth. This includes assessment of areas of struggle but also assessment of the individual's strengths and current functioning, in order to inform further tailored assessment or necessary care and intervention. The ChYMH is one of many assessment tools developed by interRAI (i.e., an international collective of researchers and clinicians) with the goal of increasing consistency in care across settings by designing compatible interRAI assessments. Trained assessors complete the ChyMH using data collected from multiple informants such as the child/youth, their

caregiver, observation of the child/youth as well as review of additional documentation from other professionals (e.g. teachers, clinicians). Recent research suggests that the ChYMH including its scales, shows strong inter-item reliability and good criterion validity, meaning it is highly correlated with well-established existing measures of similar constructs (e.g. Child and Adolescent Functional Assessment Scale (CAFAS), Child Behaviour Checklist (CBCL)) (Stewart & Hamza, 2017).

Distractibility/hyperactivity scale. The Distractibility/Hyperactivity Scale was used to assess ADHD symptoms (Stewart et al., 2015). The Distractibility/Hyperactivity Scale is a 4item scale, used for assessing four dimensions commonly associated with ADHD: 1) impulsivity, meaning acting without thinking first, or failing to stop behaviours that are not appropriate in that moment (e.g. having difficulty waiting their turn); 2) distractibility, meaning how difficult it is for the child/youth to focus and pay attention (e.g. they may not notice when the teacher calls their name); 3) hyperactivity, meaning whether or not the individual is overly active (e.g. running around the room when they are supposed to be sitting); and 4) disorganization, meaning that the individual often has trouble planning and organizing (e.g. may have trouble sticking to a schedule or may lose things often). These 4 dimensions are a subset of the 18 diagnostic symptoms of ADHD, with impulsivity and hyperactivity being two of the nine symptoms of the cluster of hyperactivity/impulsivity symptoms, and distractibility and disorganization being two of the nine symptoms from the cluster of inattentive symptoms. This scale was coded from 0 (symptoms are not present) to 4 (present for the last 3 days with 3 or more episodes occurring, or it occurs constantly). After each item received a rating, a composite score was calculated with a possible total from 0 to 16, where a higher score indicated higher levels of the selected inattentive and hyperactive/impulsive behaviours (i.e., ADHD Total Score). In the present study,

we also created a composite score for: 1) inattention symptoms (i.e., distractibility, disorganization), as well as a composite score of 2) hyperactive/impulsive symptoms (i.e., impulsivity, hyperactivity). The Distractibility/Hyperactivity scale demonstrated good criterion validity and inter-item reliability in past research (Stewart & Hamza, 2017). Internal consistency reliability for the present study was 0.78.

Severity of self-harm scale. The Severity of Self Harm Scale (SOS) was used to assess whether or not a child/youth had engaged in self-injurious thoughts and behaviors and/or suicidal behaviours (Stewart et al., 2015). First, the recency of any self-harming episodes was measured (regardless of whether or not the intent was suicidal in nature). The recency was assessed as 0 *(never inflected self-injury)*, to 5 *(in the last 3 days)*. Next, intention of the self-injury was assessed, 0 *(not a suicide attempt)* or 1 *(a suicide attempt has been previously made)*. Given that NSSI includes only behaviors without lethal intent, only individuals with no previous suicidal attempts were included in the present study. In past research the SOS has demonstrated good inter-rater reliability and also good convergent validity (Hirdes et al., 2003; Hirdes et al., 2008).

Social disengagement scale. Anhedonia symptoms were assessed using the 4-item Social Disengagement Scale (Stewart et al., 2015). This scale assesses the frequency of child's/youth's lack of interest in social interaction, lack of motivation, lack of joy/pleasure in life, and withdrawal from interests. Each symptom was coded from 0 *(not present)* to 4 *(present on each of the last 3 days, with 3 or more episodes or occurring constantly)*, and a total score was created (higher score indicates more symptoms of social disengagement). This scale demonstrated good criterion validity and inter-item reliability in past research (Stewart & Hamza, 2017). Internal consistency reliability for the present study was .79. **Anxiety scale.** Symptoms of anxiety were assessed using the 7-item Anxiety Scale (Stewart et al., 2015). This scale assesses the frequency of several anxious symptoms such as repetitive anxious concerns, unrealistic fears, obsessive thoughts, compulsive behaviours, intrusive thoughts/flashbacks, episodes of panic and nightmares. Each symptom was coded from 0 (*not present*) to 4 (*present on each of the last 3 days, with 3 or more episodes or occurring constantly*). Item scores were totalled to form a composite score from 0 to 28, where a higher score indicated more anxious symptoms present. Past research suggests that this scale demonstrates good criterion validity and inter-item reliability (Stewart & Hamza, 2017). Internal consistency reliability for the present study was 0.71

Procedure

The interRAI ChYMH instrument was used to assess 1006 children/youth at 15 mental health centres across Ontario upon intake for clinical services. Informed consent was received from the child/youth as well as their caregiver to participate. Assessments were conducted by professionals with at least two years of clinical training in mental health who had also undergone a training program on administering the ChYMH. The assessments lasted between 60-90 minutes and involved multiple informants including the child/youth, their caregiver, review of other relevant documentation from other professionals (teacher, clinician), as well as observation of the child/youth. Approval for the study was obtained from The University of Western Ontario Ethics Board.

Results

Preliminary analyses. Prior to running the primary analyses, descriptive analyses were explored for each relevant scale and corresponding item. Frequencies were examined to obtain demographic information across scales (e.g. male to female proportion, age frequencies).

Skewness and kurtosis were examined to test assumptions of normality, and variables were normally distributed. Although there were a few outliers, these data were within the scale range (and indicated high scores on the scales, so cases were retained). In the present sample, 282 children and youth reported engaging in some form of NSSI (28.0%), while 724 reported no history of NSSI (72.0%). Of those who engaged in NSSI 135 were female (48%) and 147 were male (52%). The mean on the ADHD total scale was 9.17 (SD = 4.94).

Binary Logistic Regression

Three binary logistic regression analyses were conducted to examine whether ADHD symptoms (i.e., ADHD total score, ADHD hyperactivity/impulsivity score, ADHD inattention score) could be used to identify the presence of NSSI behavior (0 = not present, 1 = present).

ADHD symptomatology. In the first binary logistic regression analysis, the predictive effect of selected ADHD symptoms (using the total hyperactivity/inattention score) was examined as a predictor of NSSI engagement over and above age and sex, when social disengagement and anxiety were included as covariates. The first model including sex and age alone compared to the constant only model was significant, meaning that age and sex better predicted those who engaged in NSSI than a model without predictors ($\chi^2 = 95.51$, p < .001, df = 2). The model including ADHD symptoms, social disengagement and anxiety was also significant, indicating that these predictors had additional predictive value over and above age and sex ($\chi^2 = 15.80$, p = .001, df = 3). The full model was statistically significant ($\chi^2 = 111.31$, p < .001, df = 5). The Hosmer and Lemeshow test was non-significant, indicating that the model was a good fit ($\chi^2 = 3.05$, p = .93, df = 8). The model including all of the predictors was able to correctly classify 74.2% of cases. With social disengagement and anxiety included as covariates, there was a trend effect for ADHD symptoms (Wald = 3.82, df = 1, p = .05). Social

disengagement emerged as a significant predictor of NSSI behaviour (Wald = 6.64, df = 1, p = .01), and anxiety was not a significant predictor when included in this model (Wald = .71, df = 1, p = .40). The odds ratio for ADHD indicated that as ADHD symptoms increased, individuals were 1.03 times more likely to engage in NSSI. Regression coefficients, Wald statistics, odds ratio and 95% confidence intervals for the odds ratios are presented in Table 1.

Hyperactivity/impulsivity symptoms. In the second binary logistic regression analysis, the predictive effect of ADHD hyperactivity/impulsivity symptoms (using the composite of impulsivity and hyperactivity scores) only was examined as a predictor of NSSI engagement over and above age and sex, when social disengagement and anxiety were included as covariates. The first model including sex and age alone compared to the constant only model was significant, meaning that age and sex better predicted those who engaged in NSSI than a model without predictors ($\chi^2 = 95.51$, p < .001, df = 2). The model including selected hyperactivity/impulsivity symptoms, social disengagement and anxiety was also significant, indicating that these predictors had additional predictive value over and above age and sex (χ^2 = 19.85, p < .001, df = 3). The full model was statistically significant ($\chi^2 = 115.37$, p < .001, df =5). The Hosmer and Lemeshow test was non-significant, indicating that the model was a good fit $(\chi^2 = 2.82, p = .95, df = 8)$. The model including all the predictors was able to correctly classify 74.4 % of cases. With social disengagement and anxiety as covariates, the symptoms of hyperactivity/impulsivity selected significantly predicted NSSI behaviour (Wald = 7.79, df = 1, p = .01). Social disengagement emerged as a significant predictor of NSSI behaviour (Wald = 7.97, df = 1, p = .01), and anxiety was not a significant predictor when included in this model (Wald = .335, df = 1, p = .56). The odds ratio for hyperactivity/impulsivity symptoms indicated that as the hyperactivity/impulsivity symptoms selected increased, individuals were 1.08 times

more likely to engage in NSSI. Regression coefficients, Wald statistics, odds ratio and 95% confidence intervals for the odds ratios are presented in Table 1.

Inattentive symptoms. In the third binary logistic regression analysis, the predictive effect of the selected ADHD inattentive symptoms (using the composite of distractibility and disorganization scores) only was examined as a predictor of NSSI engagement over and above age and sex, when social disengagement and anxiety were included as covariates. The first model including sex and age alone compared to the constant only model was significant, meaning that age and sex better predicted those who engaged in NSSI than a model without predictors (χ^2 = 95.51, p < .001, df = 2). The model including inattentive symptoms, social disengagement and anxiety was also significant, indicating that these predictors had additional predictive value over and above age and sex ($\chi^2 = 12.28$, p = .006, df = 3). The full model was statistically significant, meaning that it better predicted those who engaged in NSSI than a model without predictors (χ^2 = 107.79, p < .001, df = 5). The Hosmer and Lemeshow test was non-significant, indicating that the model was a good fit ($\chi^2 = 3.72$, p = .88, df = 8). This model correctly classified 74.4% of cases. Though, with anxiety and social disengagement as covariates, the inattentive symptoms selected did not emerge as a significant predictor of NSSI (Wald = .36, df = 1, p = .55). Social disengagement emerged as a significant predictor of NSSI behaviour (Wald = 6.11, df = 1, p =.01), and anxiety was not a significant predictor when included in this model (Wald = 1.58, df =1, p = .21). The odds ratio for the inattentive symptoms selected indicated that as these inattentive symptoms increased, individuals were 1.02 times more likely to engage in NSSI. Regression coefficients, Wald statistics, odds ratio and 95% confidence intervals for the odds ratios are presented in Table 1.

33

Discussion

Summary of Results

Although there has been increasing interest regarding ADHD as a potential risk factor for NSSI engagement, limited research has considered the heterogeneity of ADHD symptomatology and the possibility of differential risk based on symptom type. The present study sought to address this gap in the literature by examining the ability of selected ADHD symptomatology, selected hyperactivity/impulsivity symptoms, and selected inattentive symptoms individually to predict NSSI engagement in a sample of clinically-referred Canadian children and youth. Overall, study findings were consistent with our original hypothesis. As was predicted, the hyperactivity/impulsivity symptoms selected significantly predicted NSSI engagement even after taking into account age, sex, social disengagement symptoms and anxiety symptoms, whereas the inattentive symptoms selected were not associated with increased risk for NSSI. Another significant finding was that social disengagement symptoms significantly predicted NSSI engagement even after accounting for all types of the ADHD symptomatology selected and anxiety symptoms. In contrast, anxiety did not significantly predict NSSI engagement after accounting for selected ADHD symptoms and social disengagement. It is important to note that significant effect sizes were small for the predictive ability of selected ADHD symptoms, suggesting there are likely other stronger predictors of NSSI. That said, we did account for two significant predictors of NSSI in our analysis; therefore, somewhat smaller effect sizes were expected.

Differential Risk for NSSI

The present findings are consistent with prior studies, which have found that ADHD is associated with increased risk for NSSI (e.g. Hinshaw et al., 2012; Hurtig et al., 2012; Swanson

et al., 2014, Taylor et al., 2014). The present findings extend previous research by further elucidating the relationship between differential ADHD symptomology and NSSI. Specifically, the present findings suggest that increased risk may not be associated with ADHD symptomatology in general, but rather only with hyperactive/impulsive symptoms. Although previous research has explored whether different presentations of ADHD are associated with NSSI, these studies have been limited to predominantly female samples, and have focused on ADHD combined presentation and ADHD inattentive presentation without examining ADHD hyperactive/impulsive symptoms specifically.

For example, Hurtig and colleagues (2012) found that adolescents with ADHD engaged in more DSH than adolescents without ADHD but did not find any differences across presentations. Of the studies that have found differential risk based on presentation, results appear to be consistent with the present study. Both Hinshaw and colleagues (2012) and Swanson and colleagues (2014) found that individuals meeting criteria for the combined presentation were significantly different than those meeting criteria for predominantly inattentive presentation with regards to NSSI. Specifically, Hinshaw and colleagues (2012) found that NSSI was more frequent in those with the combined presentation. In addition, Swanson and colleagues (2014) found that those that were diagnosed with the combined presentation in childhood were at greater risk in terms of higher numbers of NSSI methods used, and greater use of the most severe NSSI methods used in young adulthood compared with those with predominantly inattentive presentation in childhood. However, these studies were both conducted with the same uniquely female sample, and they were unable to investigate individuals diagnosed with the predominantly hyperactive/impulsive presentation due to sample limitations. Therefore, our findings are helpful in that they show the unique predictive ability of increased

hyperactive/impulsive symptoms purely, without the inclusion of inattentive symptoms. This is useful in that it suggests that hyperactive/impulsive symptoms might be driving the effect of the combined presentation being related to increased risk. In addition, our sample included both males and females, as well as children and youth, demonstrating that hyperactive/impulsive symptoms seem to be associated with increased risk regardless of gender and age.

Our findings are consistent with a larger body of literature, which has underscored that impulsivity may be associated with increased risk for NSSI (see Hamza et al., 2015 for a review). Research suggests that higher levels of impulsivity may place an individual at greater risk for NSSI engagement, particularly when individuals have high levels of negative urgency, or the tendency to act without thinking through all of the long term consequences when experiencing negative emotions (Hamza et al., 2015). This may be because NSSI engagement offers an easily accessible and quick means of emotion regulation in times of emotional distress, and those who tend to be more impulsive might be more likely to seek the immediate relief, rather than considering the long term consequences (Hamza et al., 2015; Klonsky, 2007). Research examining clinical samples has found that individuals who engage in NSSI have significantly higher levels of impulsivity compared to those who do not engage in NSSI (e.g. Claes et al., 2013; Evren, Cinar, Evren, & Celik, 2012) and that self-report measures of impulsivity from clinical samples are highly associated with self-reports of NSSI engagement (McCloskey, Look, Chen, Pajournand, & Berman, 2012). Similarly, among non-clinical samples, differences in urgency have been shown to differentiate those who engage in NSSI and those who do not (Dir, Karyadi, & Cyders, 2013; Glenn & Klonsky, 2010). There is also longitudinal research that suggests that early impulsivity may increase risk for later NSSI engagement. Meza and colleagues (2016) found that a childhood measure of response inhibition was predictive of

NSSI severity in young adulthood, underscoring the importance of impulsivity from a young age in predicting NSSI. Considering the wealth of research that highlights impulsivity as a risk factor for NSSI engagement, this provides further support that risk associated with the combined presentation may be explained by increased risk associated with hyperactive/impulsive symptoms. Therefore, our findings are consistent with prior research and extend prior findings by specifying specific symptomatology that may underlie the increased risk associated with ADHD, with a more varied sample including both male and female participants of both children and youth.

The inattentive symptoms selected were not associated with decreased risk for NSSI, nor were they associated with increased risk of NSSI engagement independently. We did not have a clear prediction as to the relationship between the inattentive symptoms selected and NSSI engagement. On the one hand, considering emerging evidence that suggests that distraction (a symptom of inattention) could be effective in avoiding NSSI engagement (e.g. Nock et al., 2009; Polanco-Roman et al., 2015), and research suggesting that difficulty in persisting in a painful or difficult task might actually reduce risk for severe forms of self-harm (Anestis et al., 2011), we considered that individuals who have difficulty staying on task, may be less likely to engage in NSSI and may even be protected by these symptoms of inattention. Still, we likely did not find a protective effect of inattention against NSSI because choosing to think about or do something else is an effortful distraction which would likely require significant attentional control. This would be especially difficult for individuals with marked impairments in attention, especially considering that research suggests that attentional control may be further reduced in the context of negative emotions when NSSI occurs (Jonkman et al., 2017; O'Bryan et al., 2017). In terms of risk associated with inattentive symptoms, results have differed across studies with

respect to NSSI engagement. Some research suggests that individuals originally diagnosed with a combined presentation appear to be more likely to engage in NSSI than those originally diagnosed with a predominantly inattentive presentation (e.g. Hinshaw et al., 2012), whereas other research suggests that there is no difference in terms of the frequency of NSSI engagement between those who are classified as a predominantly inattentive presentation and those who are classified as a combined presentation, but that there are differences in terms of methods used and severity (Swanson et al., 2014). The current study provides additional support that selected inattentive symptoms do not seem to be significantly predictive of NSSI engagement.

Impact of comorbidity on the relationship between ADHD and NSSI

Another area of interest in the literature concerns whether ADHD is only related to NSSI risk because of comorbidities that often exist between ADHD and internalizing difficulties, since individuals with ADHD are at an increased risk for comorbid disorders (e.g. Barkley, 2006; Chronis-Tuscano et al., 2010). For example, Taylor et al. (2014) found that the association between higher levels of ADHD symptoms and increased self-injury was mediated by mental health difficulties that were comorbid with ADHD, such as anxiety disorders, and mood disorders. Therefore, the current study sought to disentangle this relationship by examining the predictive effect of ADHD symptoms while taking into account symptoms of anxiety and social disengagement, also referred to as anhedonia, which is often considered a key symptom of depression (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). When symptoms of anxiety and social disengagement were taken into account, general selected ADHD symptoms and selected inattentive symptoms no longer significantly predicted NSSI risk, however, selected hyperactive/impulsive symptoms were still predictive of NSSI risk even after controlling for these comorbid risk factors. This finding makes sense in light of previous findings that have

found that individuals classified as combined presentation and predominantly inattentive presentation tend to be at greater risk for depression than individuals classified as predominantly hyperactive/impulsive presentation or without a diagnosis (Chronis-Tuscano et al., 2010; Jonkman et al., 2017). This provides preliminary evidence that perhaps only hyperactive/impulsive symptoms are independently predictive of NSSI risk over and above anxiety and social disengagement symptoms associated with depression. Yet, it is important to remember that this effect was small, and may require replication. Further research should also consider more comorbid risk factors, such as other externalizing problems, and a wider array of depressive symptoms as the predictive ability of hyperactivity/impulsivity may decrease more when depression is more widely considered.

Anhedonia (as assessed by the social disengagement scale) was also a significant predictor of increased risk for NSSI among our sample of clinically referred children and youth. This finding is not surprising as anhedonia is considered a key feature of depression (American Psychiatric Association, 2013) and there is a multitude of studies that report an association between depressive symptoms and NSSI engagement (e.g. Hankin & Abela, 2011; Hoff & Muehlenkamp, 2009; Marshall, Tilton-Weaver, & Stattin, 2013; Muehlenkamp & Gutierrez, 2007; Xavier, Pinto-Gouveia, Cunha, & Dinis, 2017). Evidence from longitudinal studies suggests that depressive symptoms may predict future NSSI engagement in NSSI. Intense negative emotion may increase the likelihood of NSSI engagement, and the resulting relief from these emotions after engaging in NSSI may reinforce using NSSI as a coping mechanism for future depressive symptoms (Marshall et al., 2013; Xavier et al., 2017). Studies examining the relationship between anhedonia and NSSI are less common. However, Muehlenkamp and Gutierrez (2007)

found that although adolescents who engaged in NSSI reported greater depressive symptoms than adolescents who had not engaged in NSSI, individuals who engaged in NSSI who had also attempted suicide reported significantly higher levels of anhedonia than those who had a history of NSSI engagement but had not attempted suicide. Similarly, Zielinski, Veilleux, Winer, and Nadorff (2017) found moderate correlations between NSSI engagement and anhedonia, or loss of pleasure, but they also found that individuals who had engaged in NSSI with previous suicide attempts had significantly higher anhedonia than those who only engaged in NSSI without a history of suicide attempts. Interestingly, they reported that anhedonia was no longer associated with NSSI frequency once suicidality was accounted for (Zielinski et al., 2017). Therefore, it is possible that individuals with high levels of anhedonia represent a group of individuals that may be at greater risk for suicide attempts. Future research should consider anhedonia, but also depressive symptoms more broadly as these may represent distinct categories of risk.

Limitations and Future Directions

Despite the fact that the current study was able to address a gap in the literature by highlighting differential risk associated with selected symptoms of hyperactivity/impulsivity on NSSI while controlling for other risk factors for NSSI in a diverse sample (including both males and females), this study is not without limitations. First, both the hyperactivity/impulsivity and inattentive scales were each only composed of two item ratings of symptomatology. These scales have been previously well validated (Stewart & Hamza, 2017), and recent research has found that individuals meeting criteria for ADHD score significantly higher on the Hyperactivity/Distractibility scale than children that do not meet ADHD criteria, suggesting that this measure has utility for detecting symptoms related to ADHD (Lau, Stewart, Saklofske, Tremblay, & Hirdes, 2018). Though due to the limited symptomology assessed this information could not be used to obtain a reliable diagnosis. In addition, because the current study only used selected symptoms for both hyperactivity/impulsivity and inattention, these selected symptoms are not necessarily representative of the wider cluster of symptoms that is encapsulated by hyperactivity/impulsivity or inattention. As was mentioned each of these clusters consists of nine possible symptoms, of which the current study was only able to capture two. Therefore, these selected symptoms likely are not able to provide a comprehensive picture of the hyperactive/impulsive cluster nor the inattentive cluster, as these clusters cannot be encapsulated by merely two symptoms. With this in mind, it is possible that the results of the current study would have looked very different had different hyperactive/impulsive and inattentive symptoms been selected or if more symptoms from each cluster had been included. Previous studies such as Swanson and colleagues (2014) have opted for more comprehensive diagnostic interviews such as the DISC-IV to provide greater diagnostic information. Another limitation of the present study was that recency of NSSI was assessed rather than frequency of the behaviour, type of NSSI method, or severity of method. Therefore, the present study was unable to draw conclusions in terms of differential risk associated with varying ADHD symptoms with respect to how frequently these individuals engaged in NSSI and the types of methods that are being used, and if this differs based on level of hyperactivity/impulsivity or inattentive symptoms. Considering that Swanson and colleagues (2014) found such differences between those with a combined presentation and those with a predominantly inattentive presentation, this could be important to investigate in future research. An examination of the impact of symptom levels in predicting higher frequencies or more severe methods would be useful in understanding if it is hyperactive/impulsive symptoms driving the increased risk that Swanson and colleagues (2014) found for those with the combined presentation. Another limitation that should be noted is that

the study is correlational, and it is possible that the link between hyperactivity/impulsive symptoms and NSSI may be explained by other third variables not accounted for in the current study, such as externalizing problems or other internalizing symptoms associated with depression (Swanson et al., 2014; Taylor et al., 2014). Given that the effect between selected hyperactivity/impulsive symptoms was small, it is likely there may be stronger and more proximal predictors of NSSI. Finally, the current study was cross-sectional in nature rather than longitudinal, meaning that causality and directionality of effects cannot be discerned. Therefore, there is a need for future research of clinical samples to consider longitudinally if children and youth with differing levels of ADHD symptomatology are at differential risk of beginning to engage in NSSI.

In light of these limitations, there are many areas that future research should investigate. Firstly, future research could include more in-depth assessments of all 18 ADHD symptoms with a more comprehensive assessment to include differing diagnostic presentations of ADHD in order to assess differential risk for NSSI associated with all three presentations of ADHD in a sample containing both males and females. It may also be beneficial to investigate effects of the informant providing the information about ADHD symptomatology and whether informant (self, parent, teacher, etc) impacts the relationship with risk for NSSI. Future research could also investigate differences in frequency, severity and method of NSSI engagement, based on ADHD symptom categories to determine if hyperactive/impulsive symptoms are uniquely predictive of higher frequency and riskier methods of NSSI. It will also be important to investigate other third variables that may be accounting for the relationship between hyperactive/impulsive symptoms and increased risk for NSSI engagement that were not included in the present study. Although we were able to control for some, there are other comorbid conditions that may better explain this relationship, especially considering that the effects found were fairly small. Other studies should consider other comorbid conditions such as externalizing problems, and other symptoms commonly associated with depression considering the high rates of comorbidity with ADHD (Angold et al., 1999; Barkley, 2006; Becker, et al., 2012; Chronis-Tuscano et al., 2010). Finally, future research should investigate the nature of the relationship between inattention and NSSI engagement and what might explain the lack of association between these two, in order to continue to clarify the extent of differential risk across symptom type.

Conclusion

The current study provides preliminary evidence for differences in risk for NSSI associated with selected ADHD symptomatology, such that children and youth with increased levels of selected hyperactivity/impulsivity symptoms may be at increased risk for NSSI engagement. This study adds to the existing literature by providing further evidence for ADHD symptoms as a modest risk factor for NSSI, and extends past research by specifying differential risk associated with selected hyperactive/impulsive symptoms that remains even after considering comorbid anxiety and social disengagement. The current study not only provides new insight about the link between selected ADHD symptomology and NSSI engagement, but also has important implications for practice. Specifically, the present findings highlight the need for a more holistic treatment approach for children with ADHD with high levels of hyperactivity/impulsivity. Clinicians may need to consider more than treating ADHD symptoms, but also consider the broader constellation of risks inferred, such as risk for NSSI. Thus, incorporating preventive and intervention efforts around NSSI, may be beneficial among clinically referred children and youth with ADHD. Additionally, these findings underscore the value of adopting screening assessments such as the CHYMH, which allow for an assessment of co-morbid mental health concerns that may occur among children and youth with ADHD symptomology.

References

- Adrian, M., Zeman, J., Erdley, C., Lisa, L., & Sim, L. (2011). Emotional dysregulation and interpersonal difficulties as risk factors for nonsuicidal self-injury in adolescent girls. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, *39*, 389–400. http://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-010-9465-3
- Almeida Montes, L. G., Hernandez Garcia, A. O., & Ricardo-Garcell, J. (2007). ADHD prevalence in adult outpatients with nonpsychotic psychiatric illnesses. *Journal of Attention Disorders*, *11*(2), 150–156. http://doi.org/10.1177/1087054707304428
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnositic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (5th ed.). Arlington, VA.
- Andover, M. S., Primack, J. M., Gibb, B. E., & Pepper, C. M. (2010). An examination of nonsuicidal self-injury in men: Do men differ from women in basic NSSI characteristics? *Archives of Suicide Research*, 14(1), 79–88. http://doi.org/10.1080/13811110903479086
- Anestis, M. D., Bagge, C. L., Tull, M. T., & Joiner, T. E. (2011). Clarifying the role of emotion dysregulation in the interpersonal-psychological theory of suicidal behavior in an undergraduate sample. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 45(5), 603–611. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2010.10.013
- Angold, A., Costello, E. J., & Erkanli, A. (1999). Comorbidity. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 40(1), 57–87.
- Arbuthnott, A. E., & Lewis, S. P. (2015). Parents of youth who self-injure: A review of the literature and implications for mental health professionals. *Child and Adolescent Psychiatry and Mental Health*, 9(1), 1–20. http://doi.org/10.1186/s13034-015-0066-3

- Armey, M. F., Crowther, J. H., & Miller, I. W. (2011). Changes in ecological momentary assessment reported affect associated with episodes of nonsuicidal self-injury. *Behavior Therapy*, 42, 579–588. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.beth.2011.01.002
- Armiento, J., Hamza, C. A., Stewart, S. L., & Leschied, A. (2016). Direct and indirect forms of childhood maltreatment and nonsuicidal self-injury among clinically-referred children and youth. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 200, 212–217. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2016.04.041
- Asarnow, J. R., Porta, G., Spirito, A., Emslie, G., Clarke, G., Wagner, K. D., ... Brent, D. A. (2011). Suicide attempts and nonsuicidal self-injury in the treatment of resistant depression in adolescents: Findings from the TORDIA study. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 50(8), 772–781. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2011.04.003
- Balazs, J., Miklósi, M., Keresztény, Á., Dallos, G., & Gádoros, J. (2014). Attention-Deficit
 Hyperactivity Disorder and suicidality in a treatment naïve sample of children and
 adolescents. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *152–154*, 282–287.
 http://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2013.09.026
- Barbaresi, W. J., Colligan, R. C., Weaver, A. L., Voigt, R. G., Killian, J. M., & Katusic, S. K. (2013). Mortality, ADHD, and psychosocial adversity in adults with childhood ADHD: A prospective study. *Pediatrics*, *131*(4), 637–644. http://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2012-2354
- Barkley, R. A. (2006). Chapter 4: Comorbid disorders, social and family adjustment, and subtyping. In Attention-Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder: A handbook for diagnosis and treatment (3rd ed., pp. 184–218). New York, NY: The Guilford Press.

Barkley, R. A. (1997). Behavioral inhibition, sustained attention, and executive functions:
Constructing a unifying theory of ADHD. *Psychological Bulletin*, *121*(1), 65–94.
http://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.121.1.65

- Barrocas, A. L., Hankin, B. L., Young, J. F., & Abela, J. R. Z. (2012). Rates of nonsuicidal selfinjury in youth: Age, sex, and behavioral methods in a community sample. *Pediatrics*, *130*(1), 39–45. http://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2011-2094
- Becker, S. P., Luebbe, A. M., & Langberg, J. M. (2012). Co-occurring mental health problems and peer functioning among youth with Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder: A review and recommendations for future research. *Clinical Child and Family Psychology Review*, 15, 279–302. http://doi.org/10.1007/s10567-012-0122-y
- Bergen, H., Hawton, K., Waters, K., Ness, J., Cooper, J., Steeg, S., & Kapur, N. (2012). How do methods of non-fatal self-harm relate to eventual suicide? *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *136*(3), 526–533. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2011.10.036
- Biederman, J., Mick, E., Faraone, S. V., Braaten, E., Doyle, A., Spencer, T., ... Johnson, M. A.
 (2002). Influence of gender on Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder in children referred to a psychiatric clinic. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, *159*, 36–42.
- Bresin, K., & Schoenleber, M. (2015). Gender differences in the prevalence of nonsuicidal selfinjury: A meta-analysis. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 38, 55–64. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2015.02.009
- Briere, J., & Gil, E. (1998). Self-mutilation in clinical and general population samples:
 Prevalence, correlates, and functions. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 68(4), 609–620. http://doi.org/10.1037/h0080369

- Brown, M. Z., Comtois, K. A., & Linehan, M. M. (2002). Reasons for suicide attempts and nonsuicidal self-injury in women with borderline personality disorder. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *111*(1), 198–202. http://doi.org/10.1037//0021-843X.111.1.198
- Chapman, A. L., & Dixon-Gordon, K. L. (2007). Emotional antecedents and consequences of deliberate self-harm and suicide attempts. *Suicide & Life-Threatening Behavior*, 37(5), 543–552. http://doi.org/10.1521/suli.2007.37.5.543
- Cho, S.-C., Kim, J.-W., Choi, H.-J., Kim, B.-N., Shin, M.-S., Lee, J.-H., & Kim, E.-H. (2008). Associations between symptoms of Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder, depression, and suicide in Korean female adolescents. *Depression and Anxiety*, 25, E142–E146. http://doi.org/10.1002/da.20399
- Chronis-Tuscano, A., Molina, B. S. G., Pelham, W. E., Applegate, B., Dahlke, A., Overmyer, M., & Lahey, B. B. (2010). Very early predictors of adolescent depression and suicide attempts in children with Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 67(10), 1044–1051. http://doi.org/10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2010.127
- Claes, L., Fernández-Aranda, F., Jimenez-Murcia, S., Botella, C., Casanueva, F. F., de la Torre,
 R., ... Menchón, J. M. (2013). Co-occurrence of non-suicidal self-injury and impulsivity in
 extreme weight conditions. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 54, 137–140.
 http://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2012.07.035
- Claes, L., & Vandereycken, W. (2007). Self-injurious behavior: differential diagnosis and functional differentiation. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, 48(2), 137–144. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.comppsych.2006.10.009
- Claes, L., Vandereycken, W., & Vertommen, H. (2007). Self-injury in female versus male psychiatric patients: A comparison of characteristics, psychopathology and aggression

regulation. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 42(4), 611–621. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2006.07.021

- Cloutier, P., Martin, J., Kennedy, A., Nixon, M. K., & Muehlenkamp, J. J. (2010).
 Characteristics and co-occurrence of adolescent non-suicidal self-injury and suicidal behaviours in pediatric emergency crisis services. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, *39*(3), 259–269. http://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-009-9465-1
- Coles, E. K., Slavec, J., Bernstein, M., & Baroni, E. (2012). Exploring the gender gap in referrals for children with ADHD and other disruptive behavior disorders. *Journal of Attention Disorders*, 16(2), 101–108. http://doi.org/10.1177/1087054710381481
- Daigre, C., Roncero, C., Grau-López, L., Martínez-Luna, N., Prat, G., Valero, S., ... Casas, M. (2013). Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder in cocaine-dependent adults: A psychiatric comorbidity analysis. *American Journal on Addictions*, 22, 466–473. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1521-0391.2013.12047.x
- DiClemente, R. J., Ponton, L. E., & Hartley, D. (1991). Prevalence and correlates of cutting behavior: Risk for HIV transmission. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 30(5), 735–739. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0890-8567(10)80007-3
- Dir, A. L., Karyadi, K., & Cyders, M. A. (2013). The uniqueness of negative urgency as a common risk factor for self-harm behaviors, alcohol consumption, and eating problems. *Addictive Behaviors*, 38, 2158–2162. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2013.01.025
- Evren, C., Cinar, O., Evren, B., & Celik, S. (2012). Relationship of self-mutilative behaviours with severity of borderline personality, childhood trauma and impulsivity in male substance-dependent inpatients. *Psychiatry Research*, 200, 20–25. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2012.03.017

- Ford, J. D., & Gómez, J. M. (2015). The relationship of psychological trauma and dissociative and posttraumatic stress disorders to nonsuicidal self-injury and suicidality: A review. *Journal of Trauma and Dissociation*, *16*, 232–271. http://doi.org/10.1080/15299732.2015.989563
- Galéra, C., Bouvard, M. P., Encrenaz, G., Messiah, A., & Fombonne, E. (2008). Hyperactivityinattention symptoms in childhood and suicidal behaviors in adolescence: The Youth Gazel Cohort. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, *118*, 480–489. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0447.2008.01262.x
- Gaub, M., & Carlson, C. L. (1997). Gender differences in ADHD: A meta-analysis and critical review. Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, 36(8), 1036– 1045. http://doi.org/10.1097/00004583-199708000-00011
- Gershon, J. (2002). A meta-analytic review of gender differences in ADHD. *Journal of Attention Disorders*, 5(3), 143–154. http://doi.org/10.1177/108705470200500302
- Giletta, M., Scholte, R. H. J., Engels, R. C. M. E., Ciairano, S., & Prinstein, M. J. (2012).
 Adolescent non-suicidal self-injury: A cross-national study of community samples from Italy, the Netherlands and the United States. *Psychiatry Research*, *197*, 66–72. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2012.02.009
- Glenn, C. R., & Klonsky, E. D. (2010). A multimethod analysis of impulsivity in nonsuicidal self-injury. *Personality Disorders: Theory, Research, and Treatment*, 1(1), 67–75. http://doi.org/10.1037/a0017427
- Groenewald, C., Emond, A., & Sayal, K. (2009). Recognition and referral of girls with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder: Case vignette study. *Child: Care, Health and Development*, 35(6), 767–772. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2214.2009.00984.x

- Hamza, C. A., Stewart, S. L., & Willoughby, T. (2012). Examining the link between nonsuicidal self-injury and suicidal behavior: A review of the literature and an integrated model. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 32(6), 482–495. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2012.05.003
- Hamza, C. A., & Willoughby, T. (2015). Nonsuicidal self-injury and affect regulation: Recent findings from experimental and ecological momentary assessment studies and future directions. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, *71*(6), 561–574. http://doi.org/10.1002/jclp.22174
- Hamza, C. A., & Willoughby, T. (2013). Nonsuicidal Self-Injury and Suicidal Behavior: A Latent Class Analysis among Young Adults. *PLoS ONE*, 8(3). http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0059955
- Hamza, C. A., Willoughby, T., & Heffer, T. (2015). Impulsivity and nonsuicidal self-injury: A review and meta-analysis. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 38, 13–24. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2015.02.010
- Hankin, B. L., & Abela, J. R. Z. (2011). Nonsuicidal self-injury in adolescence: Prospective rates and risk factors in a 2 1/2 year longitudinal study. *Psychiatry Research*, 186, 65–70. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2010.07.056
- Heath, N., Toste, J., Nedecheva, T., & Charlebois, A. (2008). An Examination of Nonsuicidal Self-Injury Among College Students. *Journal of Mental Health Counseling*, 30(2), 137– 156. http://doi.org/10.17744/mehc.30.2.8p879p3443514678
- Hilt, L. M., Nock, M. K., Lloyd-Richardson, E. E., & Prinstein, M. J. (2008). Longitudinal study of nonsuicidal self-injury among young adolescents: Rates, correlates, and preliminary test of an interpersonal model. *Journal of Early Adolescence*, 28(3), 455–469. http://doi.org/10.1177/0272431608316604

Hinshaw, S. P., Owens, E. B., Sami, N., & Fargeon, S. (2006). Prospective follow-up of girls with Attention-Deficit / Hyperactivity Disorder into adolescence : Evidence for continuing cross-domain impairment. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 74(3), 489–499. http://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.74.3.489

Hinshaw, S. P., Owens, E. B., Zalecki, C., Huggins, S. P., Montenegro-Nevado, A. J., Schrodek, E., & Swanson, E. N. (2012). Prospective follow-up of girls with Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder into early adulthood: Continuing impairment includes elevated risk for suicide attempts and self-injury. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, *80*(6), 1041–1051. http://doi.org/10.1037/a0029451

- Hirdes, J. P., Smith, T. F., Rabinowitz, T., Edgardo, P., Telegdi, N. C., Prendergast, P., ... Fries,
 B. E. (2002). The Resident Assessment Instrument Mental Health (RAI MH): Interrater reliability and convergent validity. *Journal of Behavioral Health Services & Research*, 29(4), 419–432.
- Hirdes, J. P., Ljunggren, G., Morris, J. N., Frijters, D. H., Finne Soveri, H., Gray, L., ... Gilgen,
 R. (2008). Reliability of the interRAI suite of assessment instruments: A 12-country study of an integrated health information system. *BMC Health Services Research*, *8*, 277–287. http://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6963-8-277
- Hoff, E. R., & Muehlenkamp, J. J. (2009). Nonsuicidal self-injury in college students: The role of perfectionism and rumination. *Suicide and Life-Threatening Behavior*, *39*(6), 576–587. http://doi.org/10.1521/suli.2009.39.6.576
- Hoza, B. (2007). Peer functioning in children with ADHD. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, *32*(6), 655–663. http://doi.org/10.1093/jpepsy/jsm024

- Huang, C. L. C., Weng, S. F., & Ho, C. H. (2016). Gender ratios of administrative prevalence and incidence of Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) across the lifespan: A nationwide population-based study in Taiwan. *Psychiatry Research*, 244, 382–387. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2016.08.023
- Hurtig, T., Taanila, A., Moilanen, I., Nordström, T., & Ebeling, H. (2012). Suicidal and selfharm behaviour associated with adolescent attention deficit hyperactivity disorderA study in the Northern Finland Birth Cohort 1986. *Nordic Journal of Psychiatry*, 66(5), 320–328. http://doi.org/10.3109/08039488.2011.644806
- Impey, M., & Heun, R. (2012). Completed suicide, ideation and attempt in Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 125, 93–102. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0447.2011.01798.x
- Izutsu, T., Shimotsu, S., Matsumoto, T., Okada, T., Kikuchi, A., Kojimoto, M., ... Yoshikawa, K. (2006). Deliberate self-harm and childhood hyperactivity in junior high school students. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 15, 172–176. http://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-005-0520-5
- Jacobson, C. M., & Gould, M. (2007). The epidemiology and phenomenology of non-suicidal self-injurious behavior among adolescents: A critical review of the literature. *Archives of Suicide Research*, *11*(2), 129–147. http://doi.org/10.1080/13811110701247602

Jacobson, C. M., Muehlenkamp, J. J., Miller, A. L., & Turner, J. B. (2008). Psychiatric impairment among adolescents engaging in different types of deliberate self-harm. *Journal* of Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology, 37(2), 363–375. http://doi.org/10.1080/15374410801955771

- James, A., Lai, F. H., & Dahl, C. (2004). Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder and suicide: A review of possible associations. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, *110*, 408–415. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0447.2004.00384.x
- Joiner, T. E. Jr. (2005). Why people die by suicide. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Jonkman, L. M., Markus, C. R., Franklin, M. S., & van Dalfsen, J. H. (2017). Mind wandering during attention performance: Effects of ADHD-inattention symptomatology, negative mood, ruminative response style and working memory capacity. *PLoS ONE*, *12*(7), 1–19. http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0181213
- Klonsky, E. D., May, A. M., & Glenn, C. R. (2013). The relationship between nonsuicidal selfinjury and attempted suicide: Converging evidence from four samples. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *122*(1), 231–237. http://doi.org/10.1037/a0030278
- Klonsky, E. D., Oltmanns, T. F., & Turkheimer, E. (2003). Deliberate self-harm in a nonclinical population: Prevalence and psychological correlates. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, *160*(8), 1501–1508. http://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.160.8.1501
- Klonsky, E. D. (2007). The functions of deliberate self-injury: A review of the evidence. *Clinical Psychology Review*, *27*(2), 226–239. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2006.08.002
- Klonsky, E. D. (2009). The functions of self-injury in young adults who cut themselves: Clarifying the evidence for affect-regulation. *Psychiatry Research*, *166*, 260–268. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2008.02.008
- Klonsky, E. D., & Glenn, C. R. (2009). Assessing the Functions of Non-suicidal Self-injury:
 Psychometric Properties of the Inventory of Statements about Self-injury (ISAS). *Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment*, *31*(3), 215–219.
 http://doi.org/10.1007/s10862-008-9107-z

- Klonsky, E. D., May, A. M., & Glenn, C. R. (2013). The relationship between nonsuicidal selfinjury and attempted suicide: Converging evidence from four samples. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *122*(1), 231–237. http://doi.org/10.1037/a0030278
- Klonsky, E. D., & Muehlenkamp, J. J. (2007). Self-injury: A research review for the practitioner. *Journal of Clinical Psychology: In Session*, 63(11), 1045–1056. http://doi.org/10.1002/jclp.20412
- Kok, F. M., Groen, Y., Fuermaier, A. B. M., & Tucha, O. (2016). Problematic peer functioning in girls with ADHD: A systematic literature review. *PLoS ONE*, *11*(11), 1–21. http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0165119
- Lahey, B. B., Pelham, W. E., Loney, J., Lee, S. S., & Willcutt, E. (2005). Instability of the DSM-IV subtypes of ADHD from preschool through elementary school. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 62, 896–902.
- Lau, C., Stewart, S. L., Saklofske, D. H., Tremblay, P. F., & Hirdes, J. (2018). Psychometric evaluation of the interRAI Child and Youth Mental Health Disruptive/Aggression
 Behaviour Scale (DABS) and Hyperactive/Distraction Scale (HDS). *Child Psychiatry and Human Development*, 49, 279–289. http://doi.org/10.1007/s10578-017-0751-y
- Lewczyk, C. M., Garland, A. F., Hurlburt, M. S., Gearity, J., & Hough, R. L. (2003). Comparing DISC-IV and clinician diagnoses among youths receiving public mental health services.
 Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, 42(3), 349–356.
 http://doi.org/10.1097/00004583-200303000-00016
- Lilley, R., Owens, D., Horrocks, J., House, A., Noble, R., Bergen, H., ... Kapur, N. (2008). Hospital care and repetition following self-harm: Multicentre comparison of self-poisoning

and self-injury. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 192(6), 440–445. http://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.bp.107.043380

- Lloyd-Richardson, E. E., Perrine, N., Dierker, L., & Kelley, M. L. (2007). Characteristics and functions of non-suicidal self-injury in a community sample of adolescents. *Psychological Medicine*, 37(8), 1183–1192. http://doi.org/10.1017/S003329170700027X
- Madge, N., Hewitt, A., Hawton, K., Jan de Wilde, E., Corcoran, P., Fekete, S., ... Ystgaard, M. (2008). Deliberate self-harm within an international community sample of young people:
 Comparative findings from the Child & Adolescent Self-harm in Europe (CASE) study. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 49(6), 667–677. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2008.01879.x
- Marshall, S. K., Tilton-Weaver, L. C., & Stattin, H. (2013). Non-suicidal self-injury and depressive symptoms during middle adolescence: A longitudinal analysis. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 42, 1234–1242. http://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-013-9919-3
- Martin, J., Bureau, J. F., Yurkowski, K., Fournier, T. R., Lafontaine, M. F., & Cloutier, P. (2016). Family-based risk factors for non-suicidal self-injury: Considering influences of maltreatment, adverse family-life experiences, and parent-child relational risk. *Journal of Adolescence*, 49, 170–180. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.adolescence.2016.03.015
- May, A. M., & Klonsky, E. D. (2013). Assessing motivations for suicide attempts: Development and psychometric properties of the inventory of motivations for suicide attempts. *Suicide and Life-Threatening Behavior*, 43(5), 532–546. http://doi.org/10.1111/sltb.12037
- McCloskey, M. S., Look, A. E., Chen, E. Y., Pajoumand, G., & Berman, M. E. (2012). Nonsuicidal self-injury: Relationship to behavioral and self-rating measures of impulsivity

and self-aggression. *Suicide and Life-Threatening Behavior*, *42*, 197–209. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1943-278X.2012.00082.x

- McQuade, J. D., & Hoza, B. (2008). Peer problems in attention deficit hyperactivity disorder:
 Current status and future directions. *Developmental Disabilities Research Reviews*, 14(4), 320–324. http://doi.org/10.1002/ddrr.35
- Meza, J. I., Owens, E. B., & Hinshaw, S. P. (2016). Response inhibition, peer preference and victimization, and self-harm: Longitudinal associations in young adult women with and without ADHD. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 44, 323–334. http://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-015-0036-5
- Michielsen, M., Semeijn, E., Comijs, H. C., van De Ven, P., Beekman, A. T. F., Deeg, D. J. H., & Kooij, J. J. S. (2012). Prevalence of Attention-Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder in older adults in the Netherlands. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 201, 298–305. http://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.bp.111.101196
- Muehlenkamp, J. J. (2014). Distinguishing between suicidal and nonsuicidal self-injury. In M. K. Nock (Ed.), *The Oxford Handbook of Suicide and Self-Injury* (pp. 23–46). Oxford University Press. http://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780195388565.013.0005
- Muehlenkamp, J. J., Claes, L., Havertape, L., & Plener, P. L. (2012). International prevalence of adolescent non-suicidal self-injury and deliberate self-harm. *Child and Adolescent Psychiatry and Mental Health*, 6(1), 10–18. http://doi.org/10.1186/1753-2000-6-10
- Muehlenkamp, J. J., & Gutierrez, P. M. (2007). Risk for suicide attempts among adolescents who engage in non-suicidal self-injury. *Archives of Suicide Research*, 11(1), 69–82. http://doi.org/10.1080/13811110600992902

- Muehlenkamp, J. J., & Gutierrez, P. M. (2004). An investigation of differences between selfinjurious behavior and suicide attempts in a sample of adolescents. *Suicide and Life-Threatening Behavior*, 34(1), 12–23. http://doi.org/10.1521/suli.34.1.12.27769
- Muehlenkamp, J. J., Williams, K. L., Gutierrez, P. M., & Claes, L. (2009). Rates of non-suicidal self-injury in high school students across five years. *Archives of Suicide Research*, 13(4), 317–329. http://doi.org/10.1080/13811110903266368
- Nigg, J. (2013). Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder and adverse health outcomes. *Clinical Psychology Review*, *33*, 215–228. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2012.11.005
- Nixon, M. K., Cloutier, P. F., & Aggarwal, S. (2002). Affect regulation and addictive aspects of repetitive self-injury in hospitalized adolescents. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 41(11), 1333–1341. http://doi.org/10.1097/00004583-200211000-00015
- Nock, M. K., & Favazza, A. R. (2009). Nonsuicidal Self-Injury: Definition and Classification. In
 M. K. Nock (Ed.), Understanding Nonsuicidal Self-Injury: Origins, Assessment, and
 Treatment. American Psychological Association.
- Nock, M. K. (2009). Why do people hurt themselves? New insights into the nature and functions of self-injury. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 18(2), 78–83. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8721.2009.01613.x
- Nock, M. K. (2010). Self-Injury. *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology*, 6(1), 339–363. http://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.clinpsy.121208.131258
- Nock, M. K., Joiner, T. E., Gordon, K. H., Lloyd-Richardson, E., & Prinstein, M. J. (2006). Nonsuicidal self-injury among adolescents: Diagnostic correlates and relation to suicide

attempts. *Psychiatry Research*, *144*(1), 65–72. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2006.05.010

- Nock, M. K., & Mendes, W. B. (2008). Physiological arousal, distress tolerance, and social problem-solving deficits among adolescent self-injurers. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 76(1), 28–38. http://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.76.1.28
- Nock, M. K., Prinstein, M. J., & Sterba, S. K. (2009). Revealing the form and function of selfinjurious thoughts and behaviors: A real-time ecological assessment study among adolescents and young adults. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *118*(4), 816–827. http://doi.org/10.1037/2152-0828.1.S.36
- O'Bryan, E. M., Kraemer, K. M., Johnson, A. L., McLeish, A. C., & McLaughlin, L. E. (2017). Examining the role of attentional control in terms of specific emotion regulation difficulties. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 108, 158–163. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2016.12.015
- O'Connor, S. S., Comtois, K. A., Atkins, D. C., & Kerbrat, A. H. (2017). Examining the impact of suicide attempt function and perceived effectiveness in predicting reattempt for emergency medicine patients. *Behavior Therapy*, 48, 45–55. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.beth.2016.05.004
- Paul, E., Tsypes, A., Eidlitz, L., Ernhout, C., & Whitlock, J. (2015). Frequency and functions of non-suicidal self-injury: Associations with suicidal thoughts and behaviors. *Psychiatry Research*, 225, 276–282. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2014.12.026
- Plener, P. L., Libal, G., Keller, F., Fegert, J. M., & Muehlenkamp, J. J. (2009). An international comparison of adolescent non-suicidal self-injury (NSSI) and suicide attempts: Germany

and the USA. *Psychological Medicine*, *39*(9), 1549–1558. http://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291708005114

- Polanco-Roman, L., Jurska, J., Quiñones, V., & Miranda, R. (2015). Brooding, Reflection, and Distraction: Relation to Non-Suicidal Self-Injury versus Suicide Attempts. *Archives of Suicide Research*, 19, 350–365. http://doi.org/10.1080/13811118.2014.981623
- Polanczyk, G. V, de Lima, M. S., Horta, B. L., Biederman, J., & Rohde, L. A. (2007). The Worldwide Prevalence of ADHD : A Systematic Review and Metaregression Analysis. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 164(6), 942–948.
- Polanczyk, G. V., Willcutt, E. G., Salum, G. A., Kieling, C., & Rohde, L. A. (2014). ADHD prevalence estimates across three decades: An updated systematic review and metaregression analysis. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 43(2), 434–442. http://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyt261
- Portzky, G., De Wilde, E. J., & van Heeringen, K. (2008). Deliberate self-harm in young people:
 Differences in prevalence and risk factors between the Netherlands and Belgium. *European Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 17, 179–186. http://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-007-0652-x
- Roberts, W., Milich, R., & Barkley, R. A. (2014). Primary symptoms, diagnostic criteria, subtyping, and prevalence of ADHD. In R. A. Barkley (Ed.), *Attention-Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder: A handbook for diagnosis and treatment* (4th ed., pp. 51–80). New York, NY: The Guilford Press.
- Rodham, K., Hawton, K., & Evans, E. (2004). Reasons for deliberate self-harm: Comparison of self-poisoners and self-cutters in a community sample of adolescents. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 43(1), 80–87.
 http://doi.org/10.1097/01.chi.0000096627.64367.74

- Skounti, M., Philalithis, A., & Galanakis, E. (2007). Variations in prevalence of Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder worldwide. *European Journal of Pediatrics*, 166, 117–123. http://doi.org/10.1007/s00431-006-0299-5
- Sornberger, M. J., Heath, N. L., Toste, J. R., & McLouth, R. (2012). Nonsuicidal self-injury and gender: Patterns of prevalence, methods, and locations among adolescents. *Suicide and Life-Threatening Behavior*, 42(3), 266–278. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1943-278X.2012.0088.x
- Speranza, M., Revah-Levy, A., Cortese, S., Falissard, B., Pham-Scottez, A., & Corcos, M. (2011). ADHD in adolescents with Borderline Personality Disorder. *BMC Psychiatry*, 11, 158–166. http://doi.org/10.1186/1471-244X-11-158
- Steinberg, E. A., & Drabick, D. A. G. (2015). A Developmental Psychopathology Perspective on ADHD and Comorbid Conditions: The Role of Emotion Regulation. *Child Psychiatry & Human Development*, 46(6), 951–966. http://doi.org/10.1007/s10578-015-0534-2
- Stewart, S. L., Hirdes, J. P., Curtin-Telegdi, N., Perlman, C., MacLeod, K., Ninan, A., ... Topinková, E. (2015). interRAI Child and Youth Mental Health (ChYMH) assessment form and user's manual. Washington, DC: interRAI.
- Stewart, S. L., Baiden, P., & Theall-Honey, L. (2014). Examining non-suicidal self-injury among adolescents with mental health needs, in Ontario, Canada. *Archives of Suicide Research*, *18*(4), 392–409. http://doi.org/10.1080/13811118.2013.824838
- Stewart, S. L., & Hamza, C. A. (2017). The Child and Youth Mental Health Assessment (ChYMH): An examination of the psychometric properties of an integrated assessment developed for clinically referred children and youth. *BMC Health Services Research*, 17, 82–91. http://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-016-1970-9

Stickley, A., Koyanagi, A., Ruchkin, V., & Kamio, Y. (2016). Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder symptoms and suicide ideation and attempts: Findings from the Adult Psychiatric Morbidity Survey 2007. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 189, 321–328. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2015.09.061

Swannell, S. V., Martin, G. E., Page, A., Hasking, P., & St John, N. J. (2014). Prevalence of nonsuicidal self-injury in nonclinical samples: Systematic review, meta-analysis and metaregression. *Suicide and Life-Threatening Behavior*, 44(3), 273–303. http://doi.org/10.1111/sltb.12070

- Swanson, E. N., Owens, E. B., & Hinshaw, S. P. (2014). Pathways to self-harmful behaviors in young women with and without ADHD: A longitudinal examination of mediating factors. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 55(5), 505–515. http://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.12193
- Tamam, L., Karakus, G., & Ozpoyraz, N. (2008). Comorbidity of adult Attention-Deficit
 Hyperactivity Disorder and Bipolar Disorder: Prevalence and clinical correlates. *European Archives of Psychiatry and Clinical Neuroscience*, 258, 385–393.
 http://doi.org/10.1007/s00406-008-0807-x
- Tamburin, S., Federico, A., Morbioli, L., Faccini, M., Casari, R., Zamboni, L., ... Lugoboni, F. (2017). Screening for adult Attention Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder in high-dose benzodiazepine dependent patients. *American Journal on Addictions*, 26, 610–614. http://doi.org/10.1111/ajad.12573
- Tannock, R. (2013). Rethinking ADHD and LD in DSM-5 : Proposed changes in diagnostic criteria. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 46(1), 5–25. http://doi.org/10.1177/0022219412464341

- Taylor, M. R., Boden, J. M., & Rucklidge, J. J. (2014). The relationship between ADHD symptomatology and self-harm, suicidal ideation, and suicidal behaviours in adults: A pilot study. *ADHD Attention Deficit and Hyperactivity Disorders*, 6, 303–312. http://doi.org/10.1007/s12402-014-0139-9
- Thomas, R., Sanders, S., Doust, J., Beller, E., & Glasziou, P. (2015). Prevalence of Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Pediatrics*, *135*(4), e994–e1001. http://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2014-3482
- van Emmerik-van Oortmerssen, K., van de Glind, G., van den Brink, W., Smit, F., Crunelle, C.
 L., Swets, M., & Schoevers, R. A. (2012). Prevalence of Attention-deficit Hyperactivity
 Disorder in substance use disorder patients: A meta-analysis and meta-regression analysis. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, *122*, 11–19.

http://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2011.12.007

- Van Orden, K. A., Witte, T. K., Gordon, K. H., Bender, T. W., & Joiner, T. E. (2008). Suicidal desire and the capability for suicide: Tests of the interpersonal-psychological theory of suicidal behavior among adults. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 76(1), 72–83. http://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.76.1.72
- Van Orden, K. A., Witte, T. K., Cukrowicz, K. C., Braithwaite, S. R., Selby, E. A., & Joiner, T. E. (2010). The Interpersonal Theory of Suicide. *Psychological Review*, *117*(2), 575–600. http://doi.org/10.1037/a0018697
- Whitlock, J. L., Muehlenkamp, J. J., Purington, A., Eckenrode, J., Barreira, P., & Abrams, G. B. (2011). Non-suicidal self-injury in a college population: general trends and sex differences. *Journal of American College Health*, 59(8), 691–698. http://doi.org/10.1080/07448481.2010.529626

- Whitlock, J., Eckenrode, J., & Silverman, D. (2006). Self-injurious behaviors in a college population. *Pediatrics*, *117*(6), 1939–1948. http://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2005-2543
- Wilens, T., Biederman, J., & Spencer, T. (2002). Attention Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder across the lifespan. *Annual Review of Medicine*, 53, 113–131.
- Wilkinson, P., Kelvin, R., Roberts, C., Dubicka, B., & Goodyer, I. (2011). Clinical and psychosocial predictors of suicide attempts and nonsuicidal self-injury in the Adolescent Depression Antidepressants and Psychotherapy Trial (ADAPT). *American Journal of Psychiatry*, *168*(5), 495–501. http://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2010.10050718
- Willcutt, E. G. (2012). The prevalence of DSM-IV Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder: A meta-analytic review. *Neurotherapeutics*, 9, 490–499. http://doi.org/10.1007/s13311-012-0135-8
- Willcutt, E. G., Nigg, J. T., Pennington, B. F., Solanto, M. V., Rohde, L. A., Tannock, R., ... Lahey, B. B. (2012). Validity of DSM-IV Attention Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder symptom dimensions and subtypes. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *121*(4), 991–1010. http://doi.org/10.1037/a0027347
- Xavier, A., Pinto-Gouveia, J., Cunha, M., & Dinis, A. (2017). Longitudinal pathways for the maintenance of non-suicidal self-injury in adolescence: The pernicious blend of depressive symptoms and self-criticism. *Child and Youth Care Forum*, 46, 841–856. http://doi.org/10.1007/s10566-017-9406-1
- Xia, W., Shen, L., & Zhang, J. (2015). Comorbid anxiety and depression in school-aged children with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) and selfreported symptoms of ADHD, anxiety, and depression among parents of school-aged children with and without

ADHD. Shanghai Archives of Psychiatry, 27(6), 356-367.

http://doi.org/10.11919/j.issn.1002-0829.215115

Zielinski, M. J., Veilleux, J. C., Winer, E. S., & Nadorff, M. R. (2017). A short-term longitudinal examination of the relations between depression, anhedonia, and self-injurious thoughts and behaviors in adults with a history of self-injury. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, 73, 187–195. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.comppsych.2016.11.013

Table 1

I	Non suicidal self-injury					
Predictor	В	Wald Chi- Square	Odds ratio (ExpB)	P value	95% Confidence Interval	
Age	.21	54.80	1.23	<.001**	(1.17, 1.31)	
Sex	.79	26.12	2.21	<.001**	(1.63, 2.99)	
ADHD Total	.03	3.82	1.03	.05	(1.00, 1.07)	
Social disengagement	.05	6.64	1.05	.01*	(1.01, 1.09)	
Anxiety symptoms	.01	.71	1.01	.40	(.98, 1.04)	

Binary Logistic Regression Examining Selected ADHD Symptoms as a Predictor of NSSI

p*<.05. *p* < .01.

Table 2

	Non suicidal self-injury					
Predictor	В	Wald Chi- Square	Odds ratio (ExpB)	P value	95% Confidence Interval	
Age	.22	57.76	1.25	<.001**	(1.18, 1.32)	
Sex	.83	27.97	2.28	<.001**	(1.68, 3.10)	
Hyperactivity/impulsivity	.08	7.79	1.08	.01*	(1.02, 1.15)	
Social disengagement	.05	7.97	1.06	.01*	(1.02, 1.09)	
Anxiety symptoms	.01	.34	1.01	.56	(.98, 1.04)	

Binary Logistic Regression Examining Selected Hyperactive/Impulsive Symptoms as a Predictor of NSSI

p*<.05. *p* < .01.

Table 3

I		Non suicidal self-injury						
Predictor	В	Wald Chi- Square	Odds ratio (ExpB)	<i>P</i> value	95% Confidence Interval			
Age	.20	52.02	1.22	<.001**	(1.16, 1.29)			
Sex	.75	23.83	2.11	<.001**	(1.56, 2.84)			
Inattentive symptoms	.02	.36	1.02	.55	(.96, 1.08)			
Social disengagement	.05	6.11	1.05	.01*	(1.01, 1.09)			
Anxiety symptoms	.02	1.58	1.02	.21	(.99, 1.05)			
* <i>p</i> <.05. ** <i>p</i> < .01.								

Binary Logistic Regression Examining Selected Inattentive Symptoms as a Predictor of NSSI